STATE OF MINNESOTA OFFICE OF ADMINISTRATIVE HEARINGS

FOR THE PUBLIC UTILITIES COMMISSION

In the Matter of the Petition of Hutchinson Telecommunications, Inc., for Arbitration of an Interconnection Agreement with Embarq Minnesota Inc., dba CenturyLink EQ

ARBITRATOR'S REPORT

TABLE OF CONTENTS

SUMN	MARY OF THE ISSUES	1
SUMN	MARY OF RECOMMENDATIONS	2
FINDI	INGS AND RECOMMENDATIONS	2
	Regulatory Background - Interconnection	2
	Procedural History	6
	Commission and Arbitrator Authority	7
	Undisputed Issues	8
	Principal Remaining Disputed Issues	8
	Issue 11: Point of Interconnection (POI)	8
	Issue 24, part 1: Identification of certain technically feasible points	11
	Issue 24, part 2: Disclosure of connections with other carriers	13
	Issue 24, part 3: Included Traffic Types	17
	Issue 7: Meet Point Interconnection Arrangement Method	18
	Issues 8 and 39: Mid-Span Fiber Meet Method of Interconnection	22
	Issues 25, 26, 27, 28, 29, 30, 31, 32, 34, 38, 48: Single POI per LATA	25
	Issues 44 and 77: HTI's Specific Interconnection Requests	
	Issues 33, 37, 41, 42, and 47: Reciprocal Compensation	29
	Issues 43 and 68: Proposed Bona Fide Request (BFR) Process	35

[40054/1] i

Miscellaneous Remaining Issues	. 38
Issue 1: Definition of "End User"	. 38
Issue 14: Definition of "Transit Traffic"	. 39
Issue 46: Financial Responsibility for Indirect Interconnection	. 40
Issue 50: Requirements for Establishment of Direct Interconnection	. 41
Issues 54 and 57: Establishment of Bi-Directional, Two-Way Trunk Groups/Conversion of One Way Trunk Groups	. 42
Issues 59-61: Trunk forecasting	. 44
Issues 64-67: Transit Traffic Obligations	. 45
Issues 67.1, 18, and 36: Billing Records	. 50
Issues 69, 70, 73, 74, 75, 76: BFR Process Timelines and Disclosures	. 51
Did CenturyLink EQ Negotiate in Good Faith?	. 56
CONCLUSIONS OF LAW	. 57
NOTICE	58

[40054/1] ii

STATE OF MINNESOTA OFFICE OF ADMINISTRATIVE HEARINGS

FOR THE PUBLIC UTILITIES COMMISSION

In the Matter of the Petition of Hutchinson Telecommunications, Inc., for Arbitration of an Interconnection Agreement with Embarq Minnesota Inc., dba CenturyLink EQ

ARBITRATOR'S REPORT

This matter came before Administrative Law Judge Steve Mihalchick for an arbitration hearing on August 6, 2014. The hearing record closed on November 24, 2014, upon receipt of supplemental submissions from the parties, which had been allowed by the Administrative Law Judge.

Appearances:

Gregory R. Merz, of Gray, Plant, Mooty, Mooty & Bennett, P.A., appeared on behalf of Petitioner Hutchinson Telecommunications, Inc. (HTI).

Jason D. Topp, Associate General Counsel, appeared on behalf of Respondent Embarq Minnesota Inc., dba CenturyLink EQ (CenturyLink, CenturyLink EQ, or CTL).

Linda S. Jensen, Assistant Attorney General, appeared on behalf of the Department of Commerce (Department or DOC).

Kevin O'Grady, Staff of the Minnesota Public Utilities Commission (Commission, MPUC, or PUC) also attended the hearing.¹

SUMMARY OF THE ISSUES

There are more than 40 issues remaining in dispute in the arbitration. The most significant issues remaining in dispute concern: 1) a dispute regarding the location of the Point of Interconnection and HTI's request for a meet point interconnection arrangement, including contract language that would expressly recognize the parties' current meet point interconnection; 2) reciprocal compensation, and more specifically, CenturyLink EQ's desire to begin charging HTI for transport on CenturyLink EQ's side of

¹ The parties sometimes refer to the PUC as "this Commission" or "the Minnesota Commission" to distinguish it from the FCC.

the point of interconnection; and 3) CenturyLink EQ's proposed Bona Fide Request (BFR) process.

There is great confusion and disagreement in this matter about several important terms. The parties interpret and use them differently from each other and sometimes differently from the meanings given them in the Telecommunications Act and the FCC's rules. Many of the issues are rooted in those different interpretations of the Telecommunications Act and the FCC's rules.

Each party supports language in the agreement that will minimize its expenses and maximize its revenues and claims that its positions are supported by the law.

SUMMARY OF RECOMMENDATIONS

The Administrative Law Judge recommends that HTI's language be adopted as proposed, or with modification, on all the primary issues and that HTI's language be adopted for the majority of the "Miscellaneous" issues.

The Administrative Law Judge recommends that there be no finding that CenturyLink EQ negotiated in bad faith.

Based upon the record, the Administrative Law Judge makes the following,

FINDINGS AND RECOMMENDATIONS

Regulatory Background - Interconnection

- 1. The Telecommunications Act of 1996² (the Act, the 1996 Act, or the Telecommunications Act), fundamentally changed telephone regulation by requiring telephone companies to open their networks to competition.³ Of particular relevance in this case are two sections of the Telecommunications Act, 47 U.S.C. §§ 251, 252 (2012).
- 2. In the *Local Competition Order*, the FCC interpreted the Telecommunications Act and adopted regulations implementing, among other subjects, the interconnection requirements, which were codified at 47 C.F.R. Part 51 (2014) (the FCC's rules).⁴
- 3. A "telecommunications carrier" is any provider offering telecommunications for a fee directly to the public. 5 Telecommunications carriers have

² Pub.L.No. 104-104, 110 Stat. 56, codified in various sections of Title 47, United States Code.

³ Implementation of the Local Competition Provisions of the Telecommunications Act of 1996, CC Docket No. 96-98, First Report and Order, 11 FCC Rcd 13042 (1996) ("Local Competition Order") ¶ 1.

⁴ Local Competition Order ¶ 1443.

⁵ 47 C.F.R. § 51.5.

the duty to interconnect with the facilities and equipment of other telecommunications carriers.6

- 4. A "Local Exchange Carrier" (LEC) is any provider engaged in furnishing intercommunicating service to subscribers within an exchange area. An "incumbent LEC" (ILEC) is an LEC that on February 8, 1996, provided telephone exchange service in its exchange area and was a member of the Exchange Carrier Association or a successor or assign of a member.8 Generally, ILECs are the large regional LECs.
- 5. The Telecommunications Act made it easier for small LECs to compete for the customers of the ILECs. One way is to allow such a "competitive local exchange carrier" (CLEC) to request interconnection with an ILEC. When such a request is made. under 47 C.F.R § 51.305, the ILEC must do the following:
 - An incumbent LEC shall provide, for the facilities and equipment of any requesting telecommunications carrier, interconnection with the incumbent LEC's network:
 - For the transmission and routing of telephone exchange 1) traffic, exchange access traffic, or both;
 - 2) At any technically feasible point within the incumbent LEC's network including, at a minimum:
 - i. The line-side of a local switch;
 - ii. The trunk-side of a local switch:
 - The trunk interconnection points for a tandem switch; iii.
 - Central office cross-connect points; iv.
 - Out-of-band signaling transfer points necessary to exchange traffic at these points and access call-related databases; and
 - The points of access to unbundled network elements vi. as described in § 51.319;
 - That is at a level of quality that is equal to that which the 3) incumbent LEC provides itself, a subsidiary, an affiliate, or any other party. At a minimum, this requires an incumbent LEC to design interconnection facilities to meet the same technical criteria and service standards that are used within the incumbent LEC's network. This obligation is not limited to a consideration of service

⁶ 47 U.S.C. § 251(a). ⁷ 47 C.F.R. § 51.5.

⁸ 47 C.F.R. § 51.5.

quality as perceived by end users, and includes, but is not limited to, service quality as perceived by the requesting telecommunications carrier; and

- 4) On terms and conditions that are just, reasonable, and nondiscriminatory in accordance with the terms and conditions of any agreement, the requirements of sections 251 and 252 of the Act, and the Commission's rules including, but not limited to, offering such terms and conditions equally to all requesting telecommunications carriers, and offering such terms and conditions that are no less favorable than the terms and conditions upon which the incumbent LEC provides such interconnection to itself. This includes, but is not limited to, the time within which the incumbent LEC provides such interconnection.
- b) A carrier that requests interconnection solely for the purpose of originating or terminating its interexchange traffic on an incumbent LEC's network and not for the purpose of providing to others telephone exchange service, exchange access service, or both, is not entitled to receive interconnection pursuant to section 251(c)(2) of the Act.
- c) Previous successful interconnection at a particular point in a network, using particular facilities, constitutes substantial evidence that interconnection is technically feasible at that point, or at substantially similar points, in networks employing substantially similar facilities. Adherence to the same interface or protocol standards shall constitute evidence of the substantial similarity of network facilities.
- d) Previous successful interconnection at a particular point in a network at a particular level of quality constitutes substantial evidence that interconnection is technically feasible at that point, or at substantially similar points, at that level of quality.
- e) An incumbent LEC that denies a request for interconnection at a particular point must prove to the state commission that interconnection at that point is not technically feasible.
- f) If technically feasible, an incumbent LEC shall provide two-way trunking upon request.
- g) An incumbent LEC shall provide to a requesting telecommunications carrier technical information about the incumbent LEC's network facilities sufficient to allow the requesting carrier to achieve interconnection consistent with the requirements of this section.⁹

⁹ 47 C.F.R § 51.305. See, also, 47 U.S.C. 251(c)(2).

6. "Technically feasible" is to be determined as follows:

Technically feasible. Interconnection, access to unbundled network elements, collocation, and other methods of achieving interconnection or access to unbundled network elements at a point in the network shall be deemed technically feasible absent technical or operational concerns that prevent the fulfillment of a request by a telecommunications carrier for such interconnection, access, or methods. A determination of technical feasibility does not include consideration of economic, accounting, billing, space, or site concerns, except that space and site concerns may be considered in circumstances where there is no possibility of expanding the space available. The fact that an incumbent LEC must modify its facilities or equipment to respond to such request does not determine whether satisfying such request is technically feasible. An incumbent LEC that claims that it cannot satisfy such request because of adverse network reliability impacts must prove to the state commission by clear and convincing evidence that such interconnection, access, or methods would result in specific and significant adverse network reliability impacts. 10

- 7. The requirement that a CLEC be permitted to interconnect at any technically feasible point also entitles the CLEC to request only one point of interconnection per Local Access and Transport Area (LATA), rather than multiple points in a LATA.¹¹
- 8. In its flexibility analysis describing the interconnection rules, the *Local Competition Order* stated:

Competitive carriers, many of whom may be small entities, will be permitted to request interconnection at any technically feasible point, and the determination of feasibility must be conducted without consideration of the cost of providing interconnection at a particular point. Consequently, our rules permit the party requesting interconnection, which may be a small entity, and not the incumbent LEC to decide the points that are necessary to compete effectively. 12

9. An LEC must make any interconnection (or service or network element) provided under an approved Interconnection Agreement (ICA) to which it is a party available to any other requesting telecommunications carrier upon the same terms and conditions.¹³

¹⁰ 47 C.F.R. § 51.5.

¹¹ In the Matter of the Petition of WorldCom, Inc., 17 FCC Red 27039, *27064, 2002 FCC LEXIS 3544, **56 (2002)("Under the Commission's rules, competitive LECs may request interconnection at any technically feasible point. This includes the right to request a single point of interconnection in a LATA.")(footnote omitted).

¹² Local Competition Order, ¶ 1373.

¹³ 47 U.S.C. § 252(i).

10. The Telecommunications Act requires that ILECs like CenturyLink EQ, and CLECs requesting interconnection like HTI, negotiate the terms and conditions of ICAs in good faith.¹⁴

Procedural History

- 11. HTI is a Minnesota company based in New Ulm, Minnesota. HTI is a telecommunications carrier under Minn. Stat. § 237.01, subd. 6 (2014), authorized by the Commission to provide telecommunications services, including facilities-based local exchange service, in Minnesota. HTI serves business and residential customers located in Litchfield, Minnesota. HTI is a CLEC under the Telecommunications Act. 16
- 12. CenturyLink EQ is a telephone company under Minn. Stat. § 237.01, subd. 7 (2014), authorized by the Commission to provide telecommunications service in Minnesota, including local exchange service. CenturyLink EQ is an ILEC under the Telecommunications Act. ¹⁷
- 13. HTI and CenturyLink EQ are parties to an interconnection agreement that was approved by the Commission on December 5, 2006, ¹⁸ the terms of which were the result of a voluntary agreement on all issues between them. The agreement had an initial term of three years with automatic renewal for an unlimited number of successive six month terms. ¹⁹ HTI and CenturyLink EQ have continued to operate under the current interconnection agreement while they negotiate and arbitrate a replacement interconnection agreement. ²⁰
- 14. HTI decided to provide local exchange service in the Glencoe, Minnesota area, and believed that the current interconnection agreement required modifications to more clearly address the "meet point interconnection agreement" it intended to use for interconnection, as well as other changes required because of changes in relevant law. On April 29, 2013, HTI requested negotiation of a successor interconnection agreement. Two days later, CenturyLink EQ provided a copy of CenturyLink EQ's standard template agreement to HTI. After early discussions between the CenturyLink EQ negotiator and the HTI negotiator, Thomas Burns, HTI elected to attempt to modify the CenturyLink EQ template rather than the current agreement.

¹⁴ 47 U.S.C. § 251(c)(1).

¹⁵ Hearing Exhibit (Ex.) 100 (Burns Direct) at 2, lines 6-9.

¹⁶ Petition at ¶ 1.

¹⁷ See 47 U.S.C. §251(h). There are references in the record to CenturyLink EQ's predecessor Minnesota telephone companies known as Sprint, then Embarq. There are also references to CenturyLink EQ's affiliate CenturyLink QC and its predecessors U.S. West, then Qwest. CenturyLink QC. Qwest and CenturyLink EQ are affiliates of CenturyLink but continue to operate separate processes and systems. Exhibit (Ex.) 1 (Easton Direct) at 87.

¹⁸ MPUC Docket No. P-430, 5561/IC-06-1548.

¹⁹ Petition at ¶ 6; see also Ex. 100 (Burns Direct) at TGB-1 (HTI/Embarq interconnection agreement).

²⁰ Petition at ¶ 6.

²¹ Ex. 100 (Burns Direct) at 14, lines 11-16; Petition at ¶ 7.

- The parties subsequently agreed to extend the "negotiation window" 22 a number of times. When it became clear to it that negotiations would not resolve all of the issues, HTI filed a petition for arbitration of the remaining disputed issues on March 3, 2014. By its Order dated March 25, 2014, the Commission found that HTI met the requirements for arbitration and referred the matter to the Office of Administrative Hearings for evidentiary proceedings.²³ CenturyLink EQ filed its response to the petition for arbitration on March 28, 2014.
- Prior to the hearing, the parties filed a Joint Disputed Issues Matrix dated March 31, 2014, identifying 77 disputed issues, the specific contract language proposed by each party, and the parties' position statements in support of their proposed language.²⁴ By the time of the arbitration hearing on August 6, 2014, the parties had resolved several more issues, leaving 57 disputed. Following the hearing, the parties continued to exchange proposals and 31 more issues were resolved, leaving 46 unresolved issues. On October 9, 2014, the parties filed a revised Joint Disputed Issues Matrix dated October 3, 2014, that reflects the parties' positions on issues in dispute at that time.²⁵ CenturyLink has modified its proposals related to the term "POI" and eliminated certain restrictions on the location where parties physically interconnect.²⁶ HTI has added proposed language related to the provision of usage records in a new issue marked on the Issues Matrix as Issue 67.1.

Commission and Arbitrator Authority

The Commission has jurisdiction under the Telecommunications Act to resolve any issues set forth in a petition for arbitration of an interconnection agreement or in any response to such a petition.²⁷ Issues presented for arbitration must be resolved in accordance with Sections 251 and 252 of the Act and the rules adopted by the FCC.²⁸ Section 252(c) of the Act requires a state commission resolving open issues through arbitration to, among other things, ensure that the resolution meets the requirements of Section 251 and its implementing regulations. The Commission is required to make an affirmative determination that the rates, terms and conditions that it prescribes in the arbitration proceeding for interconnection are consistent with the requirements of Sections 251(b) and (c) and Section 252(d) of the Telecommunications Act.²⁹

²² See 47 U.S.C. § 252(b)(1) (permitting arbitration to be requested during the period from the 135th to the 160th day after the date when the incumbent local exchange carrier receives a request for arbitration). ²³ MPUC Docket No. P-421, 5561, 430/IC-14-189, ORDER REFERRING MATTER TO THE OFFICE OF

ADMINISTRATIVE HEARINGS FOR ARBITRATION, ASSIGNING ARBITRATOR, AND GIVING NOTICE OF FIRST PREHEARING CONFERENCE (March 25, 2014).

²⁴ Ex. 1 (Easton Direct) at WRE-1 (Joint Disputed Issues Matrix, March 21, 2014).

Joint Disputed Issues Matrix, Oct 3, 2014, available at PUC eDockets, No. 14-189, Document ID 201410-103687-01 (Issues Matrix).

²⁶ See Issues 11, 25-31, 34, 37, 48 and 67.

²⁷ 47 U.S.C. 252(b)(4)(C); see *also* Minn. R. 7812.1700 (2013) (authority and role of the Commission under state law for the arbitration of interconnection agreements).

28 See 47 U.S.C. §§ 251 and 252; Local Competition Order, 47 C.F.R. § 51.5 et seq. 47 U.S.C. § 252(d).

- A state commission may also, under its state law authority, impose additional requirements, as long as such requirements are consistent with the 1996 Act and the FCC's rules.30
- 19. Under the PUC rule governing interconnection arbitrations, the burden of proof in this proceeding is generally upon CenturyLink EQ to prove all issues of material fact by a preponderance of the evidence. However, the arbitrator may shift the burden of production as appropriate, based on which party has control of the critical information regarding the issue in dispute. The arbitrator may also shift the burden of proof as necessary to comply with applicable FCC regulations regarding burden of proof.³¹ As noted above, such FCC rules place the burden on the ILEC to demonstrate any claimed technical infeasibility of a CLEC's request for interconnection or unbundled access and also require the ILEC to prove by clear and convincing evidence any claim that it cannot satisfy such a request because of adverse network reliability impacts.³²

Undisputed Issues

- 20. Any portion of a proposed interconnection agreement to which the parties agree is subject to less scrutiny by the Commission. The Commission may only reject such portions if they discriminate against a telecommunications carrier not a party to the agreement or if the implementation of such portions is not consistent with the public interest, convenience, and necessity.³³ Such portions are not required to meet requirements of Sections 251(b) and (c) and Section 252(d) of the Act.
- 21. No allegation is made in this matter of any undisputed portion being discriminatory or not consistent with the public interest, convenience, and necessity. The Administrative Law Judge recommends that all undisputed portions of the proposed agreement be approved pursuant to 47 U.S.C. § 252(e)(2)(A).

Principal Remaining Disputed Issues

Issue 11: Point of Interconnection (POI)

- The FCC's rules do not expressly define the terms "point" or "point of interconnection." The word "point" is used throughout the rules and the Local Competition Order according to its common meaning, often in reference to a "point of interconnection" or "interconnection point." Sometimes that point is simply called "the interconnection."
- 23. Issue 11 concerns the definition of Point of Interconnection (POI). The parties agree that the first sentence of the definition in the proposed agreement should

³⁰ 47 U.S.C. § 252(e)(3); Local Competition Order ¶¶ 233, 244.

³¹ Minn. R. 7812.1700, subp. 23; see also In the Matter of the Petition of DIECA Communications, Inc., d/b/a Covad Communications Company for Arbitration to Resolve Issues Relating to an Interconnection Agreement with Qwest Corporation, MPUC Docket No. P-5692, 421/IC-04-549, Arbitrator's Report at ¶ 6 (December 15, 2004). 32 47 C.F.R. §§ 51.5 and 51.321(d).

³³ 47 U.S.C. § 252(e)(2)(A).

incorporate most of the language of the existing interconnection agreement³⁴ and read as follows:

"Point of Interconnection" ("POI") is the physical point that establishes the technical interface, the test point, and the operational responsibility hand-off between CLEC and CenturyLink for the local interconnection of their networks.³⁵

- 24. The Parties propose different additional language to describe the financial significance of POIs and the circumstances under which the location of a POI reflects a division of the parties' financial responsibilities.
 - 25. HTI proposes a second sentence for the definition that reads:

Each POI also establishes the demarcation point to delineate each Party's financial obligations for facility costs.³⁶

HTI's position is that the Telecommunications Act and the FCC's rules require that each party be responsible for costs on its side of every point of interconnection and that whether the POI was established pursuant to a non-standard method or process is irrelevant to the issue of financial responsibility.³⁷

26. CenturyLink contends that a non-standard method of interconnection may lead to alternative financial arrangements. CenturyLink would accept HTI's language if a clause such as the following is added to the second sentence:

..., except for both POIs established through the Bona Fide Request ("BFR") process in Section 59 and when DTT [Direct Trunk Transport] is ordered from an existing POI to a CenturyLink Tandem Switch or End Office.³⁸

27. The Department notes that several sections of the proposed interconnection agreement use the term POI or point of interconnection, but that use of the term is inconsistent.³⁹ Department witness Ms. Doherty testified that "defining the term POI to mean or infer different concepts in different sections in the agreement is at best confusing and that use of the term throughout the ICA should be, at minimum, consistent."

³⁴ Ex. 100 (Burns Direct) at TGB-1 (HTI/Embarq interconnection agreement), ¶ 1.37.

³⁵ *Id.*

³⁶ *Id.*

³⁷ *Id.*

³⁸ *Id*.

³⁹ DOC Ex. 200 at 15 (Doherty Direct).

⁴⁰ DOC Ex. 200 at 18 (Doherty Direct).

28. The Department recommended two possible definitions for Issue 11. First:

"Point of Interconnection" ("POI") is the physical point of interconnection at which two networks are linked for the mutual exchange of traffic.

Alternatively, the Department recommends that the agreed-upon portion of the language proposed by the parties be used for Issue 11. The Department also recommends that the terms "Point of Interconnection" and "POI" should be used consistently throughout the agreement to reflect this definition when applicable; and further, that the parties' respective financial responsibilities for costs associated with facilities, and the transport and termination of traffic should be addressed separately in the agreement.⁴¹

29. The Department also recommends that the Commission reject CenturyLink EQ's proposals for these Issues, because these proposals, for economic reasons, require multiple points of interconnection in a Local Access and Transport Area (LATA)⁴² Such a result is inconsistent with the Telecommunications Act's requirements that (1) the sole basis for denial of an interconnection request is lack of technical feasibility,⁴³ and (2) a CLEC may not be required to interconnect at multiple points in a LATA.⁴⁴

Recommendation

30. The ALJ recommends that the following language be approved for Issue 11:

"Point of Interconnection" ("POI") is the physical point that establishes the technical interface, the test point, and the operational hand-off between CLEC and CenturyLink for local interconnection of their networks."

31. Combining the plain meaning of "point" with the FCC's rule definition of "interconnection," the term "point of interconnection" clearly means the "point" (i.e., location) where two networks "interconnect" (i.e., physically link for exchange of traffic). So the language agreed to by the parties is really not needed. But it is somewhat helpful. It makes clear that an interconnection is a "physical" connection, as the *Local Competition Order* stated. It also defines the shortcut term "POI" that is used throughout the proposed agreement. Most importantly, the parties have agreed to this language. Therefore, it cannot be rejected by the Commission unless it discriminates against a telecommunications carrier not a party to the agreement or if the

⁴¹ DOC Post Hearing Brief at 6-7 (*citing* DOC Ex. 200 at 18 (Doherty Direct.)

⁴² CenturyLink's newly-proposed (as of September 26, 2014) language, which presumptively requires HTI to order direct trunked transport to each CenturyLink EQ tandem where HTI wishes to exchange traffic in lieu of establishing a POI at each tandem, has the same effect financially as language requiring that HTI establish multiple POIs.

⁴³ 47 C.F.R. § 51.5 (technical feasibility does not include consideration of economic concerns).

⁴⁴ DOC Post Hearing Brief at 6.

⁴⁵ Ex. 101 (Burns Rebuttal) at 1, lines 20-21.

⁴⁶ Local Competition Order ¶ 26.

implementation of the provision is not consistent with the public interest, convenience, and necessity.⁴⁷ That has not been alleged here and does not appear to be the case.

- No additional language regarding financial responsibility should be added 32. to the definition of "point of interconnection" because definitions in contracts, as in rules and other legal documents, are usually poor places to put operational requirements and prohibitions. Doing so often leads to conflicts, redundancy, and confusion. The Department and HTI are correct that including a reference to the BFR process and to Direct Trunk Transport does create confusion and may conflict with the Telecommunications Act. These are provisions that should be addressed in the directly related sections of the proposed agreement, not in a definition.
- 33. Nor should HTI's proposal to declare that a POI is the demarcation line for financial obligations be added to the definition of POI. Contrary to HTI's arguments, the Telecommunications Act and the FCC's rules do not define a point of interconnection as a demarcation line for financial obligations. The Department does not believe that in all cases the financial demarcation and the physical point of interconnection are the same. 48 Thus doing so in the proposed agreement would create a conflict with the Telecommunications Act and confusion.

Issue 24, part 1: Identification of certain technically feasible points

- The first paragraph of Issue 24 involves an HTI proposed list of locations that would be considered technically feasible and thus entitle HTI to interconnect at such locations.
 - 35. HTI proposes the following language:
 - 39.1 POI Locations. CLEC shall be entitled to establish a POI at any Technically Feasible point on the CenturyLink network, including but not limited to:
 - CenturyLink hand holes or manholes; a.
 - b. CenturyLink controlled environment vaults;
 - C. CenturyLink Central Offices;
 - Third Party locations, e.g., carrier hotels, where CenturyLink has established facilities for the purpose of interconnection with other carriers;⁴⁹

These locations are points on the CenturyLink EQ network where CenturyLink EQ typically performs cross-connections for itself and for other carriers. Thus, according to

⁴⁷ 47 U.S.C. § 252(e)(2)(A).
⁴⁸ Transcript (Tr.) (Doherty) at 144, lines 6-17.

⁴⁹ Issues Matrix, Issue 24; Ex. 1 (Easton Direct) at WRE-2 (Proposed Agreement) at 34-35.

HTI, these points should be presumed to be technically feasible and, further, interconnection must be available to HTI for the same purposes on the same terms and conditions.⁵⁰

- 36. CenturyLink EQ opposes the language added by HTI and states that its POI language (proposed at Issue 25) requires a minimum of one POI on the CenturyLink EQ network in the LATA and describes the standard methods CenturyLink EQ has developed and that are available for all CLECs to establish POIs.⁵¹
- 37. CenturyLink EQ does not claim that any of the locations listed in the HTI's proposal are not technically feasible. CenturyLink EQ does argue that HTI's proposed language would require interconnection at a point not on CenturyLink EQ's network⁵² and at points outside its local service area.⁵³

Recommendation

- 38. HTI's proposal should be adopted in part. The following language should be approved for the first paragraph proposed in Issue 24:
 - 39.1 Technically Feasible. In addition to the technically feasible points listed in 47 C.F.R. § 51.305(a)(2), CLEC shall be entitled to interconnection at any technically feasible point within CenturyLink's network, including but not limited to:
 - a. CenturyLink hand holes or manholes;
 - b. CenturyLink controlled environment vaults;
 - c. CenturyLink central office.
- 39. HTI's references to "POI Locations" and "POI" have been deleted and a reference to 47 C.F.R. § 51.305(a)(2) added because the purpose here is to identify technically feasible points not already specifically defined in § 51.305(a)(2).
- 40. The reference to third party locations such as carrier hotels has been deleted. A location such as the "511 Building" in Minneapolis is outside of CenturyLink EQ's service area and not "within" its network as required by 47 C.F.R. § 51.305(a)(2), as well as the language proposed here. At most, a carrier hotel is connected to the network; it is not part of it. Nor is it similar to the technically feasible points already identified in 47 C.F.R. § 51.305(a)(2), all of which are on or near a switch that is part of the network. ⁵⁴

[40054/1] 12

⁵⁰ Ex. 101 (Burns Rebuttal, Public Version) at 3, lines 1-4.

⁵¹ Issues Matrix, Issue 24.

⁵² Ex. 1 (Easton Direct) at 29, line 32, to 30, line 1.

⁵³ Tr. (Easton) at 65, lines 1-13.

⁵⁴ Apparently Minneapolis is in CenturyLink QC's service area. It is not clear in the record why CenturyLink EQ can treat its affiliate CenturyLink QC as a third party.

41. For further argument, CenturyLink EQ points to the definition of "incumbent local exchange carrier" in the Telecommunications Act:

For purposes of [Section 251], the term "incumbent local exchange carrier" means, with respect to an area, the local exchange carrier that provided telephone exchange service in such area. 55

CenturyLink EQ suggests this language could be interpreted such that it would not be the ILEC at a point on its network that is outside of its serving area, so it would not have the incumbent's obligations under Section 251 at that point.⁵⁶

- CenturyLink EQ's argument is not persuasive because the "area" referred to by the definition of an ILEC is the area where that ILEC provides telephone exchange service, not where its network runs. Moreover, as HTI argues, this definition is used to determine whether a carrier is subject to the interconnection obligations of Section 251(c)(2); it does not address where interconnection must be provided.⁵⁷ There is no dispute here regarding CenturyLink EQ's status as an incumbent local exchange carrier. Thus, the interconnection obligations set forth in Section 251(c)(2), apply to CenturyLink EQ.
- In discussing technically feasible points of interconnection, the Local 43. Competition Order encouraged parties and the states, through negotiation and arbitration, to identify additional points of technically feasible interconnection.⁵⁸ The interconnection agreement language proposed by HTI on this issue, as modified by the Administrative Law Judge, does so and is consistent with the Act's requirements that the requesting LEC be allowed to select the location and method of interconnection.

Issue 24, part 2: Disclosure of connections with other carriers

- The second paragraph of Issue 24 concerns 47 C.F.R. § 51.305(g), which 44. requires an ILEC to provide, to a requesting carrier, "technical information about the ILEC's network facilities sufficient to allow the requesting carrier to achieve interconnection consistent with the requirements of this section."59 The extent of that requirement is at issue.
 - 45. HTI proposed the following language:

CenturyLink shall disclose to CLEC all locations within a LATA where CenturyLink has established facilities interconnection with a third party

⁵⁵ 47 U.S.C. § 251(h). ⁵⁶ Tr. (Easton) at 65, lines 9-13.

⁵⁷ 47 U.S.C. §251(c) ("In addition to the duties contained in subsection (b) of this section, each incumbent local exchange carrier has the following duties")

⁵⁸ Local Competition Order, ¶212. 59 47 C.F.R. § 51.305(g).

carrier. This existing POI location⁶⁰ information shall be provided within 15 business days of CLEC's written request.⁶¹

HTI witness Mr. Burns indicated at the hearing that HTI was interested in information on all other carriers, both CLECs and, especially, ILECs.⁶² He further indicated that HTI needs four pieces of information about every interconnection in a LATA to understand its location: (1) the CenturyLink EQ switch code; (2) the Point of Interconnection CLLI code⁶³ or the physical location (3) the interface level; and (4) the terms of the compensation agreement associated with each Point of Interconnection.⁶⁴

- 46. One example of an ILEC withholding information about a useable existing interconnection with other carriers occurred when HTI requested the initial interconnection between HTI and CenturyLink EQ's predecessor Sprint in 1999. Sprint offered its template agreement to HTI. The template agreement required, and Sprint insisted, that HTI interconnect at the Sprint end office. HTI learned, however, of the existence of an interconnection between Sprint and US West at the US West switch in St. Cloud. This information came, not from Sprint, but from US West. As a result, HTI was eventually able to request and obtain interconnection at the St. Cloud location that better met its needs.
- 47. HTI points out that the *Local Competition Order*, in its discussion of technical feasibility, stated:

[I]ncumbent LECs have a duty to make available to requesting carriers general information indicating the location and technical characteristics of incumbent network facilities. Without access to such information, competing carriers would be unable to make rational network deployment decisions and could be forced to make inefficient use of their own and incumbent LEC facilities with anticompetitive effects.⁶⁹

48. Both parties point out that the *Local Competition Order*, in its discussion of the duty to negotiate in good faith, stated, in relevant part:

We agree with incumbent LECs and new entrants that contend that the parties should be required to provide information necessary to reach

⁶⁰ This appears to be the only place that the term "POI Location" appears in the Issues Matrix, other than its definition discussed above and in the parties' comments on Issues 24 and 76.

⁶¹ Issues Matrix Issue 24; HTI Brief at 12. HTI's original proposal was not limited to one LATA and asked for statewide information.

⁶² Tr. (Burns) at 14, line 14, to 15, line 9.

⁶³ CLLI stands for "Code Common Language Location Identifier" which is an alphanumeric eleven character code used to identify physical locations and equipment. *See Newton's Telecom Dictionary* (18th edition), p. 162 (2002).

⁶⁴ Tr. (Burns) at 18, line 2, to 19, line 9.

⁶⁵ Ex. 100 (Burns Direct) at 2, lines 16-26.

⁶⁶ Ex. 100 (Burns Direct) at 5, lines 11-20.

⁶⁷ Ex. 100 (Burns Direct) at 6, lines 1-7.

⁶⁸ Tr. (Burns) at 13, line 21, to 14, line 22.

⁶⁹ Local Competition Order, ¶ 205.

- agreement. Parties should provide information that will speed the provisioning process, and incumbent LECs must prove to the state commission, or in some instances the Commission [FCC] or a court, that delay is not a motive in their conduct. Review of such requests, however, must be made on a case-by-case basis to determine whether the information requested is reasonable and necessary to resolving the issues at stake. It would be reasonable, for example, for a requesting carrier to seek and obtain cost data relevant to the negotiation, or information about the incumbent's network that is necessary to make a determination about which network elements to request to serve a particular customer. [footnote omitted] It would not appear to be reasonable, however, for a carrier to demand proprietary information about the incumbent's network that is not necessary for such interconnection. The provided in the state of the st
- 49. HTI emphasizes the *Local Competition Order* language finding that parties should be required to provide information necessary to reach agreement and that it would be reasonable for a requesting carrier to seek and obtain cost data relevant to the negotiation, or information about the incumbent's network that is necessary to make a determination about which network elements to request to serve a particular customer.⁷² CenturyLink EQ emphasizes the language finding that review of such requests by state commissions or the FCC must be made on a case-by-case basis to determine whether the information requested is reasonable and necessary to resolving the issues at stake and that it would be reasonable for a requesting carrier to seek and obtain information about the incumbent's network that is necessary to make a determination about which network elements to request to serve a particular customer."⁷³
- 50. CenturyLink EQ witness Mr. Easton testified and argued that the information required by the HTI language (1) would include carrier proprietary information; (2) is not stored by CenturyLink EQ in a single easily accessible place; (3) that retrieving the information would be time-consuming and costly;⁷⁴ (4) that much of the information would be useless because the CLEC will know where its own facilities are located and can identify potential points of interconnection;⁷⁵ and (5) that non-proprietary information requested about non-ILEC interconnection are already publicly available. He also noted it would require CenturyLink EQ to provide information even though it might not be needed for a particular interconnection request and that HTI had

⁷⁰ [fn 292] See National Labor Relations Board v. Truitt Mfg Co, 351 U.S. 149, 153 (1956) (the trier of fact can reasonably conclude that a party lacks good faith if it raises assertions about inability to pay without making the slightest effort to substantiate that claim); see also Microwave Facilities Operating in 1850-1990 MHz (2GHz) Band, 61 F.R. 29679, 29689 (1996).

⁷¹ [fn 294] This is consistent with previous FCC determinations. See, e.g., Amendment of Rules and Policies Governing the Attachment of Cable Television Hardware to Utility Poles, 4 FCC Rcd 468, 472 (1989) (good faith negotiations necessitate that, at a minimum, one party must approach the other with a specific request).

Ex. 100 (Burns Direct) at 7, following line 24.

⁷³ Century Link EQ Brief at 17-18.

⁷⁴ Tr. (Easton) at 98, lines 19-23.

⁷⁵ Tr. (Easton) at 66, line 16, to 69, line 2.

not proposed language requiring it to compensate CenturyLink EQ for creating and maintaining such a database.⁷⁶

At the hearing, Mr. Easton generally described another approach to providing such information acceptable to CenturyLink EQ:

[HTI] has made very clear throughout this proceeding that it has the ability to interconnect at any technically feasible point. I would argue that it should base its decision on where to interconnect, not based on where other people have necessarily done it, but it should be based on their particular network configuration, based on their particular customers that they plan to serve and where they're located.

And given that and knowing that they can interconnect at any technically feasible point, I think they've got the necessary information to go to CenturyLink and say look, this is what we want to do, tell us the specifics about where we can interconnect in the particular area. It's not necessary for them to have information about the entire state. 77

Mr. Easton also testified that limiting the disclosure requirement to a LATA where HTI wished to compete would be less burdensome, but that the more relevant information to be made available would pertain to the specific area in which HTI plans to serve customers. He suggested that the information on where other carriers were interconnected would only become relevant if CenturyLink EQ denied interconnection request claiming that it was not technically feasible.⁷⁸

The Department recommends that the Commission require the inclusion 52. of HTI's proposed language regarding disclosure of information on the locations of points of interconnection.⁷⁹

Recommendation

The following language should be approved for the second paragraph 53. proposed in Issue 24:

CenturyLink shall disclose to CLEC all locations within a LATA where CenturyLink has established facilities interconnection with a third party carrier. This existing interconnection information shall be provided within 15 business days of a written request from CLEC that specifies the geographic area of the customers it plans to serve.

This language incorporates the Local Competition Order requirement for a specific request as suggested by CenturyLink EQ. However, CenturyLink EQ's

⁷⁹ DOC Brief at 22.

⁷⁶ See, generally, Issues Matrix.

⁷⁷ Tr. (Easton) at 67, lines 3-17.
78 Tr. (Easton) at 68, line 6, to 69, line 2.

arguments that it should not be required to provide information about the locations of its interconnections to other ILECs⁸⁰ must be rejected. Similar arguments were made by to the FCC when its rules were being adopted and were rejected.81

- The information that HTI seeks is not information about the network of 55. another carrier, but rather, the network of CenturyLink EQ.82 Certainly CenturyLink EQ itself is the best source of that information and should have it in a reliable and ready form. The information that is available to a requesting CLEC like HTI is less complete and less reliable.
- 56. The interconnection agreement language proposed by HTI on this issue, as modified by the Administrative Law Judge, gives effect to the requirements of the Act that require that the ILEC provide the requesting carrier technical information about the ILEC's network facilities sufficient to allow the requesting carrier to select the location and method of interconnection.⁸³

Issue 24, part 3: Included Traffic Types

- 57. The third paragraph of Issue 24 concerns a list of traffic types covered by the proposed agreement.
 - 58. HTI proposed to add the following sentence:

This Section describes the trunk group requirements for the transmission and routing of Switched Access Traffic, Non Access Telecommunications Traffic, Transit Traffic and Jointly Provided Switched Access Service Traffic.84

- In the Issues Matrix and prefiled hearing testimony, CenturyLink EQ 59. objected to the HTI proposal because the list of traffic types is not correct in that Switched Access Traffic should not be exchanged over interconnection trunks and thus should not be included in the list, and other types of traffic that can be exchanged should have been included, such as IntraLATA LEC Toll Traffic and Toll VoIP-PSTN Traffic.85
- It is not clear whether HTI agrees with CenturyLink EQ's arguments, because it has not submitted any support for its proposal. Similar language has been deleted in other issues now resolved by the parties such as closed Issues 9, 10, and 12.

⁸⁰ CenturyLink EQ Reply Brief at 18-19.

⁸¹ Local Competition Order, ¶¶ 208-210.
82 Ex. 101 (Burns Public Rebuttal), at 10, lines 12-19.

⁸³ See Issue 76 regarding disclosure of BFR information.

⁸⁴ Issues Matrix at 24.

⁸⁵ Issues Matrix at 24; Ex. 1 (Easton Direct) at 20, lines 24-27; at 30, line 18, to 31, line 2.

Recommendation

It is recommended that HTI's proposal for a third paragraph in Issue 24 61. not be approved. It is not clear whether HTI agrees with CenturyLink EQ's arguments and CenturyLink EQ has not proposed alternative language. This issue may have been resolved by the parties.

Issue 7: Meet Point Interconnection Arrangement Method

62. Regarding the **method** of interconnection, as opposed to the **point** of interconnection, "an incumbent LEC shall provide, on terms and conditions that are just, reasonable, and nondiscriminatory in accordance with the requirements of this part, any technically feasible method of obtaining interconnection or access to unbundled network elements at a particular point upon a request by a telecommunications carrier."86 Technically feasible methods of obtaining interconnection or access to unbundled network elements include, but are not limited to physical collocation and virtual collocation at the premises of an incumbent LEC; and meet point interconnection arrangements.87

63. The FCC's rules provide the following definitions:

Meet point. A meet point is a point of interconnection between two networks, designated by two telecommunications carriers, at which one carrier's responsibility for service begins and the other carrier's responsibility ends.

Meet point interconnection arrangement. A meet point interconnection arrangement is an arrangement by which each telecommunications carrier builds and maintains its network to a meet point.88

In the Local Competition Order discussed the obligation of each party to a meet point interconnection arrangement to pay its portion of the costs to build out to the meet point as follows:

[O]ther methods of technically feasible interconnection or access to incumbent LEC networks, such as meet point arrangements, in addition to virtual and physical collocation, must be available to new entrants upon request. Meet point arrangements (or mid-span meets), for example, are commonly used between neighboring LECs for the mutual exchange of traffic, and thus, in general, we believe such arrangements are technically feasible. Further, although the creation of meet point arrangements may require some build out of facilities by the incumbent LEC, we believe such arrangements are within the scope of the obligations imposed by sections 251(c)(2) and 251(c)(3). In a meet point arrangement, the "point" of

⁸⁶ 47 C.F.R. § 51.321(a). ⁸⁷ 47 C.F.R. § 51.321(b).

⁸⁸ 47 C.F.R. § 51.5.

interconnection for purposes of sections 251(c)(2) and 251(c)(3) remains on the "local carrier's network" (e.g., main distribution frame, trunk side of the switch), and the limited build-out of facilities from that point may then constitute an accommodation of interconnection. In a meet point arrangement, each party pays its portion of the costs to build out to the meet point. We believe that, although the Commission has authority to require incumbent LECs to provide meet point arrangements upon request, such an arrangement only makes sense for interconnection pursuant to section 251(c)(2) but not for unbundled access under section 251(c)(3). New entrants will request interconnection pursuant to section 251(c)(2) for the purpose of exchanging traffic with incumbent LECs. In this situation, the incumbent and the new entrant are co-carriers and each gains value from the interconnection arrangement. Under these circumstances, it is reasonable to require each party to bear a reasonable portion of the economic costs of the arrangement. In an access arrangement pursuant to section 251(c)(3), however, the interconnection point will be a part of the new entrant's network and will be used to carry traffic from one element in the new entrant's network to another. We conclude that in a section 251(c)(3) access situation, the new entrant should pay all of the economic costs of a meet point arrangement. Regarding the distance from an incumbent LEC's premises that an incumbent should be required to build out facilities for meet point arrangements, we believe that the parties and state commissions are in a better position than the Commission to determine the appropriate distance that would constitute the required reasonable accommodation of interconnection. 89

65. The parties agree to the definition of "Meet Point" in 47 C.F.R. § 51.5 and have incorporated it into the definitions section of the proposed agreement as follows:

"**Meet Point**" is [a] point of interconnection between two networks, designated by two telecommunications carriers, at which one carrier's responsibility for service begins and the other carrier's responsibility ends. (47 C.F.R. § 51.5). 90

66. In Issue 7, HTI proposes to also include a definition of **Meet Point Interconnection Arrangement** that paraphrases and cites the 47 C.F.R. § 51.5 definition of the term as follows:⁹¹

⁹¹ Issues Matrix, Issue 7.

⁸⁹ Local Competition Order, ¶ 553 (footnotes omitted).

⁹⁰ Ex. 1 (Easton Direct) at Ex. WRE-2 (Proposed Agreement) at 6.

"Meet Point Interconnection Arrangement" means each telecommunications carrier builds and maintains its network to a Meet Point. (47 C.F.R. § 51.5)." 92

- 67. CenturyLink EQ acknowledges that HTI's proposed definition of Meet Point Interconnection Arrangement is consistent with the FCC definition. However, CenturyLink EQ argues that the definition is not needed because the term is not included in CenturyLink EQ's version of the proposed agreement. 4
- 68. Despite their agreement to incorporate the definition of "Meet Point" from 47 C.F.R. § 51.5, the parties have a fundamental difference as to what it means.
- 69. CenturyLink EQ argues that the obligation to interconnect at any technically feasible point is separate and distinct from the obligation to offer what it calls a "meet point interconnection." CenturyLink EQ claims that the FCC made clear in 47 C.F.R. § 51.5 and *Local Competition Order* ¶ 553 that a meet point is a point designated by two carriers and in such an arrangement, each party will "bear a reasonable portion of the economic costs of the arrangement." CenturyLink EQ states that HTI seeks to unilaterally designate a meet point without regard for the proportion of costs incurred by both parties, which the FCC has determined is an appropriate consideration for a meet point interconnection arrangement. ⁹⁵

70. The Department states:

CenturyLink appears to argue that, because the definition of "meet point" refers to a point "designated" by carriers, State commissions may not in arbitration require meet point interconnection at any otherwise technically feasible point used by other carriers. CenturyLink EQ cites no authority for this theory, and the Department has found none. CenturyLink EQ's argument appears plainly inconsistent with the Act, which makes technical feasibility the cornerstone of the obligation to interconnect, and which requires parity and prohibits unreasonable discrimination. The Commission should not adopt this novel interpretation.

71. HTI argues that CenturyLink EQ is "misapplying the regulation." It claims that the reference to a meet point being designated by two telecommunications carriers reflects nothing more than a recognition that a meet point interconnection necessarily requires cooperation between the interconnection carriers and argues that the reference does not trump the ILEC's statutory obligation to allow a CLEC to interconnect at any technically feasible point. Doing so, HTI argues, would effectively

⁹² Ex. 1 (Easton Direct) at 12, line 25, to 13, line 2. See 57 C.F.R. § 51.5 (defining "meet point interconnection arrangement").

⁹³ Tr. (Easton) at 55, line 23, to 56, line 3.

⁹⁴ Tr. (Easton) at 54, lines 6-14.

⁹⁵ HTI Reply Brief at 7-8.

⁹⁶ DOC Brief at 13.

⁹⁷ HTI Reply Brief at 3.

give the ILEC veto power over the POI location, contrary to the clear language of Section 251(c)(2) of the Telecommunications Act. 98

Recommendation

72. For Issue 7, the definition of Meet Point Interconnection Arrangement should be modified to read as follows:

CenturyLink may deny a meet point at a particular point requested by CLEC on the grounds that its build-out of facilities from that point would exceed the limited build-out that would constitute a "reasonable accommodation of interconnection" under *Local Competition Order* ¶ 553. CenturyLink must prove that fact to the state commission.

"Meet Point Interconnection Arrangement" means each telecommunications carrier builds and maintains its network to a Meet Point. (47 C.F.R. § 51.5).

- 73. CenturyLink EQ is at least partially correct in its interpretation of 47 C.F.R. § 51.5 and *Local Competition Order* ¶ 553. The words, "designated by two telecommunications carriers," cannot simply be ignored as suggested by HTI and the Department. The words must be given effect.
- 74. Local Competition Order ¶ 553 describes meet point arrangements as being commonly used between neighboring LECs, as being fairly simple connections with just "some" build out for the ILEC, such as at the main distribution frame or trunk side of the switch, from which "the limited build-out of facilities to the interconnection point may then constitute an accommodation of interconnection." It finds that in the case of interconnection, as opposed to unbundled access, it is reasonable to require each party to bear a reasonable portion of the economic costs of the arrangement. It concludes that, "the parties and state commissions are in a better position than the Commission to determine the appropriate distance that would constitute the required reasonable accommodation of interconnection."
- 75. Thus, the parties should, indeed, cooperate in establishing a meet point interconnection. Both parties' economic costs of the arrangement should be considered. Usually, the ILEC's costs to build-out to the meet point will be limited, which justifies normally requiring each party to pay its own build-out costs. However, the ILEC may object to a meet point at a particular point requested by the CLEC on the grounds that its build-out of facilities from that point exceeds the limited build-out that constitutes an accommodation of interconnection under *Local Competition Order*, ¶ 553. That issue may be resolved in arbitration before the state commission.

⁹⁸ HTI Reply Brief at 3-4, *citing Local Competition Order* ¶ 1373 ("[O]ur rules permit the party requesting interconnection which may be a small entity, and not the incumbent LEC to decide the points that are necessary to compete effectively.")

76. Local Competition Order ¶ 553 discusses only the economic costs of "the arrangement." It does not address transport costs or other economic costs of the parties beyond building and maintaining their networks to the meet point

Issues 8 and 39: Mid-Span Fiber Meet Method of Interconnection

77. In Issue 8, CenturyLink EQ, proposes the following definition:

"Mid-Span Fiber Meet" An Interconnection architecture whereby two carriers' fiber transmission facilities meet at a mutually agreed upon point for the mutual exchange of traffic, subject to the trunking requirements and other terms and provisions of this Agreement. The "point" of Interconnection, for purposes of §§251(c)(2) and 251(c)(3), remains on CenturyLink's network and is limited to the Interconnection of facilities between the CenturyLink Serving Wire Center and the location of the CLEC switch or other equipment located within the area served by the CenturyLink Serving Wire Center. 99

In Issue 39, CenturyLink EQ further describes interconnection via a Mid-Span Fiber Meet for section 39.9.2.1.1 of the proposed agreement, as follows:

The Mid-Span Fiber Meet, as proposed, must be at a mutually agreeable, economically and technically feasible point between CenturyLink's Serving Wire Center End Office and CLEC's Premises, and will be within the CenturyLink Local Calling Area. 100

78. HTI proposes the following modified version of CenturyLink EQ's definition at Issue 8 that adds the first sentence and deletes the requirement that the it be between CenturyLink's Serving Wire Center End Office and CLEC's Premises:

"Mid-Span Fiber Meet" A form of Meet Point Interconnection Arrangement, which uses fiber optic transmission facilities to interconnect carriers' networks. An Interconnection architecture whereby two carriers' fiber transmission facilities meet at a mutually agreed upon point for the mutual exchange of traffic, subject to the trunking requirements and other terms and provisions of this Agreement. The "point" of Interconnection, for purposes of §§251(c)(2) and 251(c)(3), remains on CenturyLink's network. ¹⁰¹

[40054/1] 22

_

 ⁹⁹ Ex. 1 (Easton Direct) at 13, lines 6-14.
 100 Ex. 1 (Easton Direct) at 56, lines 6-12.

¹⁰¹ Issues Matrix at Issue 8.

For Issue 39, HTI proposes to delete CenturyLink EQ's language and replace it with:

A Mid-Span Fiber Meet is a form of Meet Point Interconnection Arrangement where fiber optic facilities are spliced at Meet Point which is logically located between the Parties' premises. 102

- CenturyLink EQ states that its proposed "Mid-Span Fiber Meet" is 79. CenturyLink EQ's standardized form of interconnection that requires the parties to jointly designate a meet point and share costs associated with that interconnection of fiber on a reasonably equal basis. 103 It is consistent with the standardized product CenturyLink EQ has created and historically offered to CLECs. 104 It is CenturyLink EQ's form of meet point interconnection arrangement. 105
- CenturyLink EQ argues that HTI's proposed changes pose a number of 80. issues. First, CenturyLink EQ does not have such a standardized product offering available. Second, as previously argued, it could be used by HTI to force CenturyLink EQ to provide a meet point outside of its territory. Third, as previously argued, it would give HTI the right to unilaterally designate a meet point location, instead of by mutual agreement between the parties, making CenturyLink EQ responsible for a grosslydisproportionate share of the transport costs. 106
- 81. CenturyLink EQ points out that this Commission has addressed this type of situation and ordered a party to pay for additional interconnection costs caused by a unique interconnection arrangement. In a 2009 arbitration between Charter Fiberlink and Qwest, the Commission ruled in favor of Qwest on this same type of dispute even though, as in this case, the parties had agreed to a bill and keep methodology of reciprocal compensation for exchanging traffic. 107 CenturyLink EQ believes that this precedent holds true under current FCC rules and requires HTI to assume a reasonable share of the transport costs caused by its choice of a unique, non-standard interconnection arrangement. 108
- CenturyLink EQ points out that numerous interconnection agreements approved by the Commission provide for CLEC compensation associated with direct trunked transport, and those terms generally do not vary between agreements that are bill and keep in nature or provide for reciprocal compensation. Thus, CenturyLink EQ argues, the Commission has the authority to order HTI to pay for dedicated transport

23

¹⁰² Ex. 1 (Easton Direct) at 56, lines 19-25.

¹⁰³ CenturyLink EQ Brief at 5.

¹⁰⁴ Ex. 1 (Easton Direct) at 14, lines 22-25.

Hearing Transcript (Easton) at 57, lines 7-16.

¹⁰⁶ CenturyLink EQ Brief at 5-7.

¹⁰⁷ In the Matter of the Petition of Charter Fiberlink for Arbitration of an Interconnection Agreement with Qwest Pursuant to 47 U.S.C. §252(b), Docket P-5535, 421/M-08-952, Order Resolving Arbitration Issues and Requiring Filed Interconnection Agreement at 9-11 (July 10, 2009). CenturyLink EQ Brief at 10-11.

(direct trunked transport) caused by its choice of a non-standard interconnection arrangement. 109

- HTI argues that CenturyLink EQ's language must be rejected because it 83. would impose limitations on meet point interconnection that are contrary to the Telecommunications Act and its implementing regulations in several ways, including:
 - Under CenturyLink EQ's language, any type of meet point a. interconnection other than a Mid-Span Fiber Meet would be considered non-standard and would be subject to CenturyLink EQ's proposed BFR process in order to assess "feasibility." 110
 - By requiring that the meet point be "mutually agreed upon," b. CenturyLink EQ seeks to give itself veto power over HTI's selection of the POI. This is contrary to the requirements of the Act which leave it to the CLEC to determine the interconnection location and method that best meets its needs.
 - CenturyLink EQ limits the POI location to the interconnection of C. facilities between the CenturyLink EQ serving wire center and the CLEC switch, contrary to the CLEC's right to interconnect at any technically feasible point.
 - d. CenturyLink EQ's language includes economic feasibility as a limitation on the establishment of its meet point interconnection. CenturyLink EQ does not attempt to show that these limitations are required as a matter of technical feasibility. 111

Recommendation

- For Issues 8 and 39, the language proposed by HTI should be adopted and the language proposed by CenturyLink EQ should be rejected.
- There are technically feasible methods of obtaining interconnection in addition to physical collocation, virtual collocation, and meet point interconnection arrangements. 112 CenturyLink EQ has elected to designate its Mid-Span Fiber Meet as its only meet point interconnection arrangement offering. However, CenturyLink EQ imposes restrictions on its offering that violate its obligation to provide "any technically feasible method of obtaining interconnection at a particular point upon a request by a telecommunications carrier."113

¹⁰⁹ CenturyLink EQ Brief at 11-12.
110 Tr. (Easton) at 57, lines 7-16; Ex. 1 (Easton Direct) at 27, lines 1-4.

¹¹¹ Ex. 1 (Easton Direct) at 57, lines 2-6 ("Mid-Span Fiber Meet is the standard method that CenturyLink" EQ uses to provide network interconnection at a "Meet Point").

¹¹² 47 C.F.R § 51.321(b).

¹¹³ 47 C.F.R § 51.321(a).

- As HTI argues, requirements that the Mid-Span Fiber Meet be "mutually agreed upon," or at a point between the serving wire center and the CLEC switch, or be based upon economic considerations, are contrary to the requirements the FCC's rules that leave it to the CLEC to choose the technically feasible interconnection location and technically feasible method that best meets its needs. Because the Mid-Span Fiber Meet is CenturyLink EQ's meet point interconnection arrangement offering, the economic considerations that could be addressed go to whether CenturyLink EQ's build-out would the limited build-out that would constitute a "reasonable accommodation of interconnection" under Local Competition Order ¶ 553 discussed in Issue 7.
- 87. HTI's proposals for Issues 8 and 39 should be adopted because they are consistent with the Telecommunications Act and the FCC's rules. In the alternative, both CenturyLink EQ's and HTI's proposals for Issues 8 and 39 could be rejected.

Issues 25, 26, 27, 28, 29, 30, 31, 32, 34, 38, 48: Single POI per LATA

- HTI and the Department claim that CenturyLink EQ's proposals on these issues would improperly require the CLEC to interconnect at more than one point per Local Access and Transport Area (LATA).
- For these issues, CenturyLink EQ proposed that HTI be required to 89. establish POIs at certain places. For example, in Issue 26, CenturyLink proposed:

CLEC must establish a POI at each Tandem Switch in the LATA where it wishes exchange (receive or terminate) Non-Access Telecommunications Traffic with CenturyLink or where it has established codes within that tandem serving area. 114

For Issues 27 – 30, CenturyLink EQ proposed similar provisions that would require HTI to establish POIs at each end office where traffic meets certain thresholds: 115 at each CenturyLink EQ end office that subtends a non-CenturyLink tandem where traffic meets certain thresholds; 116 at each non-contiguous exchange or group of exchanges where it wishes to exchange traffic; 117 and in each rate center where it wishes to obtain numbering resources. 118

HTI objected to requiring POIs at all those points and proposed 90. substituting the term "Local Interconnection Trunk Group" or "trunk group" for CenturyLink EQ's term "POI." Thus, for example, HTI is now proposing that Issue 26 provide:

CLEC must establish a Local Interconnection Trunk Group at each Tandem Switch in the LATA where it wishes to exchange (receive or

¹¹⁴ Ex. 1 (Easton Direct) at 33, line 10, to 34, line 10 (Issue 26).

¹¹⁵ Ex. 1 (Easton Direct) at 34, line 14, to 35, line 21 (Issue 27); see also Ex. 1 (Easton Direct), at 40, line 10, to 42, line 13 (Issue 31) (calculation of threshold for establishing direct trunking).

¹¹⁶ Ex. 1 (Easton Direct) at 35, line 25, to 37, line 2 (Issue 28).

¹¹⁷ Ex. 1 (Easton Direct) at 37, line 6, to 38, line 23 (Issue 29).

¹¹⁸ Ex. 1 (Easton Direct) at 39, line 4, to 40, line 6 (Issue 30).

terminate) Non-Access Telecommunications Traffic with CenturyLink or where it has established codes within that tandem serving area. 119

91. After the hearing, CenturyLink EQ changed its proposals on these issues to allow HTI the option of purchasing direct trunk transport (DTT) to each secondary CenturyLink EQ tandem, if any, if it elects to physically interconnect at a single point in a LATA. For example, on Issue 26, CenturyLink revised its proposal to read as follows:

CLEC must establish a POI at or order DTT pursuant to Section 43.2.5 from their POI at a CenturyLink Tandem in the LATA to any other CenturyLink Tandem Switches in the LATA where it wishes to exchange (receive or terminate) Non-Access Telecommunications Traffic with CenturyLink or where it has established codes within that tandem serving area. 120

- 92. CenturyLink made similar language changes in Issues 25, 27, 28, 31, 34, 37 and 48. ¹²¹ Issue 38 is a different, but related proposal that CenturyLink EQ considers to be "fundamental" to its POI language. In its view, its language "provides for the establishment of the POIs in such a manner as to ensure that each party pays its fair share of the interconnection cost of the two networks and that the POI is on CenturyLink EQ's network. ¹²² Issues 25 and 48 are also related proposals. ¹²³
- 93. HTI and the Department point out that FCC and court decisions have consistently stated that CLECs have the right to establish a single point of interconnection per LATA with an ILEC¹²⁴ and that the FCC has observed that the "single point of interconnection" rule was designed to benefit the CLEC by permitting it to interconnect for delivery of its traffic to the ILEC at a single point. ¹²⁵

¹²⁵ Verizon Virginia Arbitration Order, DA 02-1731 at ¶ 71.

 $^{^{\}rm 119}$ Ex. 1 (Easton Direct) at 33, line 10, to 34, line 10 (Issue 26).

¹²⁰ CenturyLink EQ Brief at 24.

¹²¹ Issues Matrix, CenturyLink Proposal, Issue 28.

¹²² Ex. 1 (Easton Direct) at 55, line 6, to 56, line 2 (Issue 38).

¹²³ Ex. 1 (Easton Direct) at 31, line 6, to 33, line 6 (Issue 25); Ex. 1 (Easton Direct) at 67, line 18, to 68, line 32 (Issue 48).

¹²⁴ Ex. 200 (Doherty Direct) at 4 and n. 8; *Petition of WorldCom, Inc., FCC Memorandum Opinion and Order ("Verizon Virginia Arbitration Order")*, DA 02-1731 at ¶ 52, 17 FCC Red 27039, *27064, 2002 FCC LEXIS 3544, *56 (released July 17, 2002). (stating that, "[u]nder the Commission's rules, competitive LECs may request interconnection at any technically feasible point. This includes a single point of interconnection in a LATA.") *See also, Southwestern Bell Tele. Co. v. Public Utilities Comm. of Texas*, 348 F.3d 482, 485 (5th Cir. 2003) (CLEC may choose to interconnect with ILEC at any technically feasible point, including a single POI per LATA); *In the Matter of the Application by SBC Communications Inc., et al. pursuant to Section 271 of the Telecommunications Act of 1996 to Provide In-Region, InterLATA Services in Texas*, CC Docket No. 00-65, "Memorandum Opinion and Order" at ¶ 78 (Rel. June 30, 2000) (holding that a CLEC has the option to interconnect at only one technically feasible point in each LATA); *In Re: In the Matter of Developing a Unified Intercarrier Compensation Regime*, "Notice of Proposed Rulemaking," CC Docket No. 01-92, ¶ 112 (Rel. April 27, 2001) (holding that an ILEC must allow a requesting carrier to interconnect at any technically feasible point, including the option to interconnect at a single POI per LATA).

- 94. HTI argues that CenturyLink EQ's original provisions would have required it to interconnect at numerous points in a single LATA in violation of the Telecommunications Act's requirement that a CLEC is entitled to interconnect at a single point of interconnection in each LATA. HTI further argues that the revised language still improperly limits HTI's ability to identify a POI that best meets its needs because CenturyLink EQ's revised language would require that HTI's POI be at the CenturyLink EQ tandem. HTI adds that CenturyLink EQ's new proposed language, like its previous proposals, is intended allow it to bill HTI reciprocal compensation charges for which HTI should not be responsible. 127
- 95. The Department agrees, arguing that CenturyLink's revised language, which presumptively requires HTI to order direct trunked transport to each CenturyLink EQ tandem where HTI wishes to exchange traffic in lieu of establishing a POI at each tandem, has the same effect financially as language requiring that HTI establish multiple POIs. The Department recommends that the Commission reject CenturyLink EQ's proposals for these issues, because these proposals, for economic reasons alone, require multiple points of interconnection in a LATA. CenturyLink EQ's proposals are inconsistent with the Telecommunications Act's requirements that (1) the sole basis for denial of an interconnection request is lack of technical feasibility, and (2) a CLEC must be allowed to interconnect at only one point in each LATA.
- 96. The Department and HTI each recommend using the term "Local Interconnection Trunk Group" rather than "POI" for issues 26 through 30, and 34. 129
- 97. CenturyLink EQ argues that to eliminate the use of the term "POI" and instead use HTI's proposed term of "Local Interconnection Trunk Group" for Issues 26 through 30 and for Issue 34 would allow the CLEC to use the interconnection trunk group without compensation whereas its proposed language provides for CenturyLink EQ to be compensated for the dedicated facilities required after one POI in the LATA has been established. 130

Recommendation

- 98. For Issues 25, 26, 27, 28, 29, 30, 31, 32, 34, 38, and 48, the language proposed by HTI should be adopted and the language proposed by CenturyLink EQ should be rejected.
- 99. The proposed agreement cannot contain terms that mandate that a requesting carrier establish multiple points of interconnection in any LATA. As HTI and the Department argue, CenturyLink EQ's proposals on these issues do that and therefore are inconsistent with the Telecommunications Act's requirements that a CLEC

¹²⁶ HTI Brief at 18.

¹²⁷ HTI Brief at 19.

¹²⁸ DOC Proposed Findings of Fact at 6.

¹²⁹ DOC Brief at 6-7.

¹³⁰ CenturyLink EQ Reply Brief at 23-24.

must be allowed to interconnect at a technically feasible single point of its choosing in each LATA. 131

Issues 44 and 77: HTI's Specific Interconnection Requests

- 100. HTI proposed two specific meet point interconnection arrangements. CenturyLink EQ has accepted neither and made one of its own. HTI's first proposal was for a meet point at the CenturyLink QC (Qwest) central office in St. Cloud, which is the parties' current interconnection arrangement that has been in place since 1999. CenturyLink EQ then made a proposal for interconnection at Glencoe, Minnesota, using virtual colocation. HTI's second interconnection proposal is for a meet point at CenturyLink EQ's remote switch at Glencoe. This interconnection would be the same as the interconnection that HTI's ILEC affiliate, Hutchinson Telephone Company (HTC), has had with CenturyLink EQ since before the passage of the Telecommunication Act in 1996. It would use the HTC facilities.
- 101. In both instances, CenturyLink EQ acknowledges that HTI's interconnection requests are technically feasible, but has not accepted those requests because CenturyLink EQ see them as seeking "nonstandard" interconnection. With respect to the existing interconnection at the Qwest St. Cloud central office, CenturyLink EQ states that the arrangement "isn't something we would agree to do today." CenturyLink EQ does not claim that the interconnection arrangement is not technically feasible. CenturyLink EQ takes the position that the arrangement is "inappropriate" and that it has no obligation to continue to make it available to HTI on a non-discriminatory basis. 136
- 102. CenturyLink EQ also declined the proposal for interconnection at Glencoe because HTI would not agree to pay compensation for its use of transport between Glencoe and the host switch in Osseo. 137
- 103. HTI argues that CenturyLink EQ's refusal to provide the meet point interconnection at Glencoe is directly contrary to its obligation under the Telecommunications Act to provide interconnection on terms that are non-discriminatory and at least equal in quality to that provided to any other carrier. ¹³⁸

¹³¹ See cases cited in Footnote 124.

¹³² HTI Brief at 20; Ex. 100 (Burns Direct) at 6, lines 6-7, Fig. 2.

That proposal is Attachment 1 to the copy of the proposed interconnection agreement attached to HTI's petition. The Petition was not a hearing exhibit, but it is in the record as the first document in PUC eDockets file 14-189. Ex. 1 (Easton Direct) at 94-95.

¹³⁴ HTI Brief at 20; Ex. 100 (Burns Direct) at 31, line 9, to 32, line 9, Fig. 11.

¹³⁵ Tr. (Easton) at 102, line 18; 103, line. 12.

¹³⁶ Ex. 2 (Easton Rebuttal) at 31, line 15, to 32, line 14.

¹³⁷ Ex. 2 (Easton Rebuttal) at 2-3.

¹³⁸ 47 U.S.C. § 252(c)(2); HTI Brief at 21.

104. The Department recommends that the Commission find it reasonable for CenturyLink EQ to build and maintain its network to the meet point interconnection at Glencoe as requested by HTI. 139

Recommendation

105. For Issues 44 and 77, HTI's position should be adopted and CenturyLink EQ's position should be rejected. HTI may choose either meet point interconnection arrangement that it has requested because they are both technically feasible methods at technically feasible points. The compensation issue is discussed next.

Issues 33, 37, 41, 42, and 47: Reciprocal Compensation

- 106. These issues concern CenturyLink EQ's proposed contract language that would enable it to begin charging HTI for transport of HTI's traffic from the meet point to the CenturyLink EQ end office switch.
- 107. The Telecommunications Act requires all carriers to establish reciprocal compensation for the transport and termination of telecommunications. 140 "Transport" is transmission and any necessary tandem switching of Non-Access Telecommunications Traffic...from the interconnection point between the two carriers to the terminating carrier's end office switch that directly serves the called party...."141 "Termination" is "the switching of Non-Access Telecommunications Traffic at the terminating carrier's end office switch...."142
- 108. On December 29, 2011, the FCC issued the Connect America Fund Order (CAF Order) that, among many items, adopted new rules that overhauled the intercarrier compensation system. 143144 It adopted "bill-and-keep" as "the default methodology for all intercarrier compensation traffic." 145 Under the bill-and-keep compensation methodology, "a carrier generally looks to its end-users—which are the entities and individuals making the choice to subscribe to that network—rather than looking to other carriers and their customers to pay for the costs of its network." ¹⁴⁶ Each carrier bills its customers and keeps what they pay. One of the new rules immediately capped all reciprocal compensation rates as follows:

Effective December 29, 2011, no telecommunications carrier may increase a Non-Access Reciprocal Compensation for transport or

¹³⁹ Ex. 201 (Doherty Surrebuttal) at 5.

¹⁴⁰ 47 U.S.C. § 251(b)(5).

¹⁴¹ 47 C.F.R. § 51.701(c).

¹⁴² 47 C.F.R. § 51.703(d).

¹⁴³ In the Matter of Connect America Fund, WC Docket No. 10-90, Report and Order and Further Notice of Proposed Rulemaking, 26 FCC Rcd 17663, 2011 FCC LEXIS 4859 (November 28, 2011)(CAF Order)

¹⁴⁶ CAF Order ¶ 737.

termination above the level in effect on December 29, 2011. All Bill-and-Keep Arrangements in effect on December 29, 2011 shall remain in place unless both parties mutually agree to an alternative arrangement.¹⁴⁷

- 109. Under the parties' current agreement, neither party charges the other reciprocal compensation for either transport or termination. That reciprocal compensation arrangement was initially entered into in 1999. The parties agreed to continue the same arrangement in 2006. As a result, the reciprocal compensation arrangement in effect at the time the *CAF Order* took effect was bill-and-keep for both transport and termination. 149
- 110. HTI's proposed language for Issue 33 adds a new subsection "c." to Section 39.3 (POI Thresholds), to ensure that each party will bear responsibility for transport on its side of the POI:
 - c. Each Party is financially responsible for transport on its side of each POI. If CLEC chooses to lease the facility from each POI to CLEC's network from CenturyLink EQ and the facility is within CenturyLink EQ's serving territory, CLEC will lease the facility from CenturyLink EQ as defined Section 39.9, Network Interconnection Methods for Direct Interconnection. 150
- 111. Issue 42 addresses the "Third Party Carrier Meet Point using Leased Facilities" method, which would apply if HTI were to interconnect using the HTC interconnection facilities at the Glencoe remote. CenturyLink EQ proposed:

Third Party Carrier Meet Point using Leased Facilities. If CLEC chooses to interconnect with CenturyLink using a third party's Meet Point Arrangement, (i.e., leased switched access facilities jointly provisioned by CenturyLink and a third party ILEC), then any portion of such facilities provided by CenturyLink will be ordered from CenturyLink's access tariff.¹⁵¹

This language would require HTI to pay for transport on CenturyLink EQ's side, so HTI proposed a modification that provides that each party will bear the costs on its side of the POI:

Third Party Carrier Meet Point using Leased Facilities. If CLEC chooses to interconnect with CenturyLink using a third party's Meet Point Arrangement, e.g. a third party's facilities which are interconnected to the CenturyLink network, the POI shall be at the third party Meet Point with

¹⁴⁷ 47 C.F.R. § 51.705(c)(1).

¹⁴⁸ Ex. 100 (Burns Direct) at TGB-1, at 29, 39, 41; see also Tr. (Easton) at 78, lines 2-7.

¹⁴⁹ Tr. (Easton) at 84-85.

¹⁵⁰ Ex. 1 (Easton Direct) at 43-44; Issues Matrix Issue 33.

¹⁵¹ Ex. 1 (Easton Direct) at 60, lines 13-21; Issues Matrix Issue 42.

CenturyLink, and each Party is responsible for its costs on its side of the POI. 152

- 112. HTI argues that CenturyLink EQ is seeking to begin charging for transmission of traffic from the POI (i.e., the meet point) to the CenturyLink EQ end office switch, which is "transport" under the FCC's rules governing reciprocal compensation. CenturyLink EQ's language would enable it to begin charging for transport under its access tariff. According to HTI, the *CAF Order*, by its plain language, does not permit this increase in charges.
- 113. CenturyLink EQ argues that the *CAF Order* does not apply to its proposals because Direct Trunk Transport, a form of dedicated transport, is different from the type of transport that is capped by the *CAF Order*.
- 114. CenturyLink EQ argues that the FCC "specifically excluded dedicated transport from the bill and keep regime" established by the *CAF Order* by specifically reserving the question of dedicated transport and other rate elements for future proceedings in *CAF Order* ¶¶ 739, 821, 1297. CenturyLink EQ highlights the language of those paragraphs as follows:
 - ¶ 739: We recognize, however, that we need to further evaluate the timing, transition, and possible need for a recovery mechanism for those rate elements including originating access, common transport elements not reduced, and *dedicated transport* that are not immediately transitioned; we address those elements in the FNPRM. (Emphasis added).
 - ¶ 821: Other Rate Elements. Finally, we note that the transition set forth above caps rates but does not provide the transition path for all rate elements or other charges, such as **dedicated transport charges**. In our FNPRM, we seek comment on what transition should be set for these other rate elements and charges as part of comprehensive reform, and how we should address those elements. (Emphasis added).
 - ¶ 1297: Although we specify the implementation of the transition for certain terminating access rates in the Order, we did not do the same for other rate elements, including originating switched access, *dedicated transport*, tandem switching and tandem transport in some circumstances, and other charges including dedicated transport signaling, and signaling for tandem switching. (Emphasis added).¹⁵⁵

¹⁵⁵ CenturyLink EQ Brief at 15-16.

¹⁵² Id

¹⁵³ See Ex. 200 (Doherty Direct) at KAD-1, at 13-14 (CenturyLink's Supplemental Responses to HTI's First Set of IRs).

¹⁵⁴ CenturyLink EQ Reply Brief at 13; Ex. 2 (Easton Rebuttal) at 19-20; see also Tr. (Easton) at 81-82.

- 115. CenturyLink EQ also cites the following language in Section 36.1.2. of the existing contract between the parties as treating Bill and Keep as distinct from transport: 156
 - 36.1.2 Bill and Keep applies to EAS Traffic between either Parties' (sic) End Office and the Physical POI. Each Party is responsible for any necessary transport on its side of the POI as described in Appendix 2. 157
- 116. Finally, CenturyLink EQ argues that its proposed language does not eliminate a current bill and keep arrangement because the parties have agreed to language in resolved Issue 52 that all Local Traffic will be exchanged on a Bill and Keep basis. 158
- 117. HTI acknowledges that the cited paragraphs do say that the FCC is deferring taking any action to establish a transition plan for certain reciprocal compensation rate elements, including dedicated transport. HTI argues however that the paragraphs do not exclude dedicated transport from the prohibition on any party unilaterally increasing reciprocal compensation rates, including established rates for dedicated transport, above the rates that were in effect on December 29, 2011.
- 118. HTI further argues that CenturyLink EQ's proposal to increase the reciprocal compensation rates it charges HTI is also contrary to the requirement that CenturyLink EQ provide HTI with interconnection at parity with that which it offers any other carrier. The meet point interconnection that HTI has requested at the Glencoe remote is the same as the interconnection that CenturyLink EQ currently provides to HTI's ILEC affiliate, HTC.¹⁵⁹ CenturyLink EQ does not charge HTC for transport between the Glencoe remote and the Osseo central office. Therefore, according to HTI, the Telecommunications Act does not permit CenturyLink EQ to charge HTI.
- 119. CenturyLink EQ argues that the issue of reciprocal compensation in this case is controlled by precedent in the Commission's decision in the interconnection arbitration between Qwest and Charter and "requires HTI to assume a reasonable share of the transport costs caused by its choice of a unique, non-standard interconnection arrangement." CenturyLink EQ notes that the Commission agreed with the following finding in the Arbitrator's Report:

Because of the manner in which Charter has configured its network, it will face additional switching costs to terminate Qwest originated traffic, but it will not face much in the way of additional transport costs (other than the distance from the POI to its switch). Qwest, on the other hand, will face

¹⁵⁶ CenturyLink EQ Brief at 16.

Ex. 100 (Burns Direct), Attachment TGB-1 at 29.

¹⁵⁸ CenturyLink EQ Brief at 14-15.

¹⁵⁹ Tr. (Easton) at 101, line 24, to 102, line 25.

¹⁶⁰ DOC Brief at 18; see In the Matter of the Petition of Charter Fiberlink, LLC, for Arbitration of an Interconnection Agreement with Qwest Corporation Pursuant to 47 U.S.C. § 252(b), MPUC Docket No. P-5535, 421/M-08-952 ("Charter Arbitration").

additional costs for both transport and termination of traffic originated on Charter's network. Use of a bill-and-keep method for transport, as advocated by Charter, would require Qwest to forego compensation for its more substantial transport costs. In this situation, reciprocal billing for transport of the other party's traffic is a more fair and reasonable method of recovering these costs.

- 120. The Department argues that the *Charter Arbitration* decision is distinguishable, both as a matter of a law and as a matter of fact. First, as a matter of law, at the time of the decision in the *Charter Arbitration*, the FCC had not yet issued its *CAF Order* which identified bill-and-keep as the preferred methodology for all reciprocal compensation and froze all reciprocal compensation rates as of the effective date of that Order. Nor were the parties to the *Charter Arbitration* already operating under a long-standing agreement providing for bill-and-keep for both transport and termination elements of reciprocal compensation. ¹⁶¹
- 121. Second, as noted by Department witness, Ms. Doherty, the facts of this case differ from the facts of the *Charter Arbitration* in a number of significant respects. For example, because there is already ample capacity between Glencoe and Osseo, HTI's request will not require CenturyLink EQ to construct new facilities. Also, CenturyLink EQ's extra costs are not due to HTI's choice, they are the result of how CenturyLink EQ decided to configure its network. The Department sees no unfairness arising from requiring CenturyLink EQ to bear that cost. 163
- 122. CenturyLink EQ responds that the Department's understanding of the proposed configuration is flawed and questions whether splitting the transport costs "24% vs 76%" would be considered reasonable under the *Charter Arbitration*. ¹⁶⁴
- 123. CenturyLink EQ agrees that it is responsible for transporting HTI originated traffic from its tandem to CenturyLink EQ end users in Glencoe or other destinations served by the Osseo tandem/host office. CenturyLink EQ disagrees, however, that it is financially responsible for providing the transport between Glencoe and Osseo that is required due to the fact that Glencoe is a remote switch, so the traffic must go through Osseo. CenturyLink EQ claims that HTI is clearly attempting to gain access to the EQ tandem network without paying for any of it. CenturyLink EQ quotes part of Paragraph 199 of the *Local Competition Order* to support its position:

Of course, a requesting carrier that wishes a "technically feasible" but expensive interconnection would, pursuant to section 252(d)(1), be required to bear the cost of that interconnection, including a reasonable profit. 165

¹⁶¹ DOC Brief at 18-19.

¹⁶² Ex. 201 (Doherty Surrebuttal) at 4-5.

¹⁶³ DOC Brief at 19-21.

¹⁶⁴ CenturyLink EQ Reply Brief at 14.

¹⁶⁵ CenturyLink EQ Brief at 13-14.

124. The Department recommends that the Commission find it reasonable for CenturyLink EQ to be responsible for transport costs on its side of to the meet point interconnection at Glencoe the point of interconnection, just as the parties and their affiliates have done since the 1990's. Further, the Department argues It is reasonable for CenturyLink EQ to be responsible for the transport between Osseo and Glencoe on its side of the meet point where those 44 miles are entirely within CenturyLink EQ's network because this is the result of how CenturyLink EQ configured its network with a host switch at the Osseo tandem switch and a distant remote office in Glencoe, driving the transport distance that is at issue. 166

Recommendation

- 125. HTI's language should be adopted for Issues 33 and 42, and the reciprocal compensation for transport for the Glencoe interconnection should be billand-keep. HTI should be not financially responsible for providing the transport between Glencoe and Osseo.
- 126. The CAF Order did, as CenturyLink EQ argues, identify dedicated transport as an element for further study and comprehensive reform. However, the reason for the delay was not to allow increases in rates for dedicated transportation, it was to ultimately reduce those rates, among others. 167
- 127. The FCC did not make the distinction in the meaning of "transport" that CenturyLink EQ urges. Again, for the purposes of the FCC's rules, "transport" is "the transmission and any necessary tandem switching of Non-Access Telecommunications Traffic...from the interconnection point between the two carriers to the terminating carrier's end office switch that directly serves the called party. ..." This definition includes the dedicated transport at issue here, it does not exclude it.
- Moreover, CenturyLink EQ has not demonstrated that HTI's requested 128. connection requiring 44 miles of dedicated transport would be "expensive" under Local Competition Order ¶ 199; or "unreasonable" under the Charter Arbitration Order; or would "exceed the limited build-out" that would constitute a reasonable accommodation of interconnection under Local Competition Order ¶ 553. Because HTI would interconnect where HTC is connected and use HTC's equipment, and because CenturyLink EQ would not have to add extra capacity, CenturyLink EQ's costs would be minimal. It will be required to give up the potential revenue from that capacity, but it has not complained about that in the past. CenturyLink EQ would have the revenue from its customers that that call HTI's customers. Bill and Keep Reciprocal Compensation would be just and reasonable under 47 U.S.C. § 252(d)(1).

¹⁶⁶ Ex. 201 (Doherty Surrebuttal) at 5.

¹⁶⁷ See CAF Order ¶ 818. (Although we do not establish the transition for rate reductions to bill-and-keep in this Order, we seek comment in the FNPRM on the appropriate transition and recovery mechanism for ultimately phasing down originating access charges.) ¹⁶⁸ 47 C.F.R. § 51.701(c).

129. Regarding the existing St. Cloud interconnection arrangement under the current interconnection agreement that HTI requested be continued with the point of interconnection at the (Qwest) St. Cloud Tandem, CenturyLink EQ claims that the St. Cloud POI is not on its network because it is not in its service area, so HTI cannot request interconnection there. This argument was accepted in Issue 24 regarding the carrier hotels in Minneapolis because they were not "within" CenturyLink EQ's network. The network configuration in the St. Cloud LATA appears to be much different. Mr. Easton's Ex. WRE-3 shows the CenturyLink CQ tandem in St. Cloud serving ten CenturyLink EQ end office switches around the tandem with names indicating them to be in central to western Minnesota. That tandem is a significant part of CenturyLink EQ's network and substantially within it. 169

Issues 43 and 68: Proposed Bona Fide Request (BFR) Process

130. According to the *Local Competition Order*, the bona fide request (BFR) processes that ILECs had been using before the FCC's rules were adopted, and were now recommending be included in the rules, had been a problem historically:

We also find that incumbent LECs may not require requesting carriers to satisfy a "bona fide request" process as part of their duty to negotiate in good faith. Some of the information that incumbent LECs propose to include in a bona fide request requirement may be legitimately demanded from the requesting carrier; some of the proposed requirements, on the other hand, exceed the scope of what is necessary for the parties to reach agreement, and imposing such requirements may discourage new entry. For example, parties advocate that a "bona fide request" requirement should require requesting carriers to commit to purchase services or facilities for a specified period of time. We believe that forcing carriers to make such a commitment before critical terms, such as price, have been resolved is likely to impede new entry. Moreover, we note that section 251(c) does not impose any bona fide request requirement. In contrast, section 251(f)(1) provides that a rural telephone company is exempt from the requirements of 251(c) until, among other things, it receives a "bona fide request" for interconnection, services, or network elements. This suggests that, if Congress had intended to impose a "bona" fide request" requirement on requesting carriers as part of their duty to negotiate in good faith, Congress would have made that requirement explicit. 170

131. CenturyLink EQ claims that the BFR process it is proposing here is different from the former BFR processes and establishes a process for addressing the costs associated with a non-standard form of interconnection.¹⁷¹ CenturyLink EQ states

¹⁶⁹ The question of whether CenturyLink QC should be considered a third party appears more clearly in this situation.

Local Competition Order ¶ 156; Ex. 100 (Burns Direct) at 54; CenturyLink EQ Brief at 20.

¹⁷¹ CenturyLink EQ Brief at 20-21.

that it uses the BFR process to evaluate/develop or reject non-standard methods of interconnection. 172

132. At Issue 43, CenturyLink EQ's proposed the following language:

The parties may establish, through negotiations, other Technically Feasible methods of interconnection via the Bona Fide Request (BFR) process unless a particular arrangement has been previously provided to a third party, or is offered by CenturyLink as a product. ¹⁷³

HTI proposed the following language for Issue 43:174

The parties may establish, through negotiations, other Technically Feasible methods of Interconnection via the Bona Fide Request (BFR) process. If a substantially similar arrangement has been previously provided to a third party, or is offered by CenturyLink as a product, such arrangement will be made available to CLEC through normal ordering and provisioning processes and not subject to the BFR process. ¹⁷⁵

133. For Issue 68, HTI proposed the following:

The Bona Fide Request process shall be used when CLEC requests a form of Network Interconnection or other service which CenturyLink does not provide in this agreement, to itself, or to another carrier.¹⁷⁶

CenturyLink EQ objects to the language saying HTI seeks to change the use of BFR by requiring it to be used in very limited situations. CenturyLink EQ proposes no language of its own for Issue 68.¹⁷⁷

- 134. HTI's proposal tracks the language of 47 C.F.R. § 51.321(c) that provides: "a previously successful method of obtaining interconnection or access to unbundled network elements at a particular premises or point of any incumbent LEC's network is substantial evidence that such method is technically feasible in the case of substantially similar network premises or points."
- 135. CenturyLink EQ argued that a "particular arrangement ... previously provided" is more narrow than "substantially similar," as it should be to allow it to determine if the request is in fact an arrangement that has been used in the past. 178

[40054/1] 36

-

¹⁷² Issues Matrix Issue 68.

¹⁷³ Ex. 1 (Easton Direct) at 62, lines 1-5.

¹⁷⁴ HTI Brief at 31.

¹⁷⁵ Ex. 1 (Easton Direct) at 62, lines 7-15.

¹⁷⁶ Ex. 1 (Easton Direct) at 85, lines 9-15.

¹⁷⁷ Issues Matrix Issue 68.

¹⁷⁸ Ex. 1 (Easton Direct) at 62, line 19, to 63, line 2; Tr. (Easton) at 95, line 20, to 96, line 3.

- 136. At the hearing, CenturyLink EQ witness Mr. Easton admitted that "particular arrangement" was "less than crystal clear." ¹⁷⁹
- 137. As CenturyLink EQ describes how the process would work, if HTI requests interconnection that CenturyLink EQ regards as "nonstandard," CenturyLink EQ would make a case-by-case determination of whether what HTI is requesting a "particular arrangement" that CenturyLink EQ has provided in the past. ¹⁸⁰
- 138. The interconnection arrangement that HTI has requested at the Glencoe remote switch is identical to the interconnection that has been in place between CenturyLink EQ and its predecessors and HTI's ILEC affiliate, HTC, for many years. Nonetheless, CenturyLink EQ maintains that the interconnection requested by HTI is "nonstandard" and would therefore, be subject to the BFR. 181
- 139. HTI argues that CenturyLink EQ proposed to use its BFR process for the Glencoe interconnection to require HTI to establish, at significant expense to HTI, a virtual collocation that HTI does not need and does not want. Under a virtual collocation arrangement, the CLEC provides the necessary equipment and CenturyLink EQ installs, operates, and maintains the equipment. Here, however, HTI would use the facilities of a third party, its affiliated ILEC, for purposes of interconnection and has no need of any additional equipment. Yet, depending on the applicability of specific virtual collocation rate elements, CenturyLink EQ may charge HTI in excess of \$15,000 to establish virtual collocation if CenturyLink EQ's BFR language is adopted.
- 140. HTI also points out that CenturyLink EQ would charge a \$1,585 "processing fee" for a CLEC required to use CenturyLink EQ's BFR process. 186
- 141. CenturyLink EQ argues that HTI's proposals ignore the significant costs associated with a non-standard form of interconnection, ignore the almost universal inclusion of BFR language in interconnection agreements, and should therefore be rejected. 187

Recommendation

HTI's language should be adopted for Issues 43 and 68. CenturyLink EQ has not provided any justification for requiring that either of HTI's requested interconnection points and methods go through CenturyLink EQ's BFR process.

¹⁷⁹ Tr. (Easton) at 96, lines 5-14.

¹⁸⁰ Tr. (Easton) at 98, line 4, to 99, line 9.

¹⁸¹ Tr. (Easton) at 102, line 2, to 103, line 12.

¹⁸² Ex. 100 (Burns Direct) at 55, line 1, to 56, line 14.

¹⁸³ Ex. 100 (Burns Direct) at 55, lines 1-5; Tr. (Gordon), at 127, lines 18-24.

¹⁸⁴ Ex. 100 (Burns Direct) at 55, line 10, to 56, line 3; Ex. 101 (Burns Public Rebuttal) at 12, lines 1-15.

¹⁸⁵ Response to Petition, Ex. C.

¹⁸⁶ CenturyLink EQ Answer to Petition for Arbitration, Ex. B at 81.

¹⁸⁷ CenturyLink EQ Brief at 21.

Miscellaneous Remaining Issues

Issue 1: Definition of "End User"

142. There do not appear to be significant conceptual differences between the parties on this issue; they agree that wholesale providers and the parties themselves are not appropriately considered end users. They differ on how to describe those entities. CenturyLink EQ proposes:

"End User" - Any third party retail customer that subscribes to, and does not resell to others, a service provided by (i) a Party to this Agreement; or (ii) a wholesale customer of a Party, where the service provided by such Party's wholesale customer is derived from a Telecommunications Service provided to such Party by the other Party. Unless otherwise specified, a reference to a Party's End Users shall be deemed to refer to either (i) or (ii) above. As used herein, End User does not include any of the Parties to this Agreement with respect to any item or service obtained under this Agreement, nor any Interexchange Carrier (IXC), Competitive Access Provider (CAP) or Commercial Mobile Radio Service (CMRS) provider (also known as a Wireless Carrier) or their retail customers. 189

HTI edits out much of the verbiage contained in the first two sentences of CenturyLink EQ's definition and proposes:

"End User" - A third party retail customer that subscribes to a Telecommunications Service. As used herein, End User does not include any Interexchange Carrier (IXC), Competitive Access Provider (CAP) or Commercial Mobile Radio Service (CMRS) provider (also known as a Wireless Carrier) or their retail customers.¹⁹⁰

- 143. CenturyLink EQ claims that a simple comparison of the language demonstrates that its proposal is clearer than HTI's and more likely to avoid future disputes. ¹⁹¹ It claims that HTI's definition "fails to include the requirement that the end user cannot be a reseller nor can it be the Party itself." HTI countered that its proposed definition expressly requires that an "End User" be a "third party retail customer," which does exclude both resellers and the parties themselves, as the CenturyLink EQ witness acknowledged at the hearing. ¹⁹³
- 144. CenturyLink EQ also argued that its definition "appropriately describes that type of wholesale customers that would meet the definition of End User as it is used in this agreement." On cross examination regarding this argument, however,

¹⁸⁸ Tr. (Easton) at 51, line 7, to 53, line 24.

¹⁸⁹ Matrix, Issue 1.

¹⁹⁰ Revised Matrix, Issue 1, HTI proposed language.

¹⁹¹ CenturyLink EQ Brief at 29.

¹⁹² Ex. 1 (Easton Direct) at 8, lines 25-26.

¹⁹³ Tr. (Easton) at 52, lines 14-18.

¹⁹⁴ Ex. 1 (Easton Direct) at 8, lines 28-30.

CenturyLink EQ's witness could not identify any wholesale customers that were intended to be included under CenturyLink EQ's definition. 195

Recommendation

- 145. HTI's language should be adopted for Issue 1.
- 146. CenturyLink EQ's definition only adds complexity; it does not increase clarity. It is very difficult to understand.

Issue 14: Definition of "Transit Traffic"

147. Again the parties disagree about the detail required in this definition. HTI proposes the following:

"Transit Traffic" means traffic exchanged between a CLEC End User and the customer of a third party carrier which traverses the CenturyLink network using CenturyLink Transit Service. For the purposes of this Agreement Jointly Provided Access Service is not considered Transit Traffic. 196

CenturyLink EQ's proposed definition is:

"Transit Traffic" means Non-Access Telecommunications Traffic, IntraLATA LEC Toll Traffic, and Toll VoIP-PSTN Traffic that is routed by CLEC through CenturyLink's network for delivery to a third party Telecommunications Carrier's network or Non-Access Telecommunications Traffic, IntraLATA Toll Traffic, Toll VoIP- PSTN Traffic, and CMRS traffic that is routed by a third party carrier through CenturyLink's network for delivery to CLEC's network. 197

- 148. CenturyLink EQ believes that it is important to specify the types of transit traffic that will be exchanged to avoid future disputes proposed definition specifically identifies the types of traffic included within the definition and defines Transit Traffic in both directions. It includes traffic routed from third parties, including VoIP-PSTN Traffic, through CenturyLink EQ to HTI and traffic routed from HTI, excluding CMRS traffic, through CenturyLink EQ for termination with third parties. ¹⁹⁸
- 149. HTI objects to the language proposed by CenturyLink EQ on the ground that it is unnecessarily complicated. ¹⁹⁹ Further, according to HTI, as the transit provider, CenturyLink EQ will generally not be in a position to be able to distinguish among various types of traffic (for example, IntraLATA Toll Traffic from Toll VoIP-PSTN

¹⁹⁵ Tr. (Easton) at 53, lines 21-24.

¹⁹⁶ Ex. 1 (Easton Direct) at 19, lines 9-14.

¹⁹⁷ Ex. 1 (Easton Direct) at 18, line 20, to 19, line 7.

¹⁹⁸ Ex. 1 (Easton Direct) at 19, line 18, to 20, line 4.

¹⁹⁹ Ex. 1 (Easton Direct) at 19, line 21, to 20, line 4.

Traffic),²⁰⁰ and therefore the additional detail of CenturyLink EQ's language adds nothing.²⁰¹

Recommendation

- 150. CenturyLink EQ's language should be adopted for Transit Traffic in Issue 14.
- 151. Contrary to HTI's assertion, this language is not particularly complicated. It may be helpful.

Issue 46: Financial Responsibility for Indirect Interconnection

152. Indirect Traffic is originated by one party and terminated by the other party and a third party ILEC's tandem switch provides the intermediary transit service and serves CenturyLink EQ's End Office.²⁰² The parties disagree on which should be responsible for the cost of the transit service on CenturyLink EQ's side of the intermediary.

153. HTI has proposed the following language:

Indirect Network Connection shall be accomplished by CenturyLink and CLEC each being responsible for delivering Local Traffic to and receiving Local Traffic at the ILEC Tandem serving the CenturyLink End Office. Each Party acknowledges that it is the originating Party's responsibility to enter into transiting arrangements with the third party providing the transit services. Each Party is responsible for the facilities to the ILEC Tandem, and for the appropriate sizing, operation, and maintenance of the transport facility to the Tandem. A Party choosing to route its Non-Access Telecommunications Traffic to a third party transit service provider for termination to the other Party is solely responsible for all associated third party transit charges.²⁰³

CenturyLink EQ proposes the following:

A Party choosing Indirect Network Connection to route its Non-Access Telecommunications Traffic, Toll VoIP-PSTN Traffic and IntraLATA LEC Toll Traffic, to a third party ILEC tandem provider for termination to the other Party is solely responsible for all associated transit charges, until the cost exceeds the amount in Section 42.4. Should either Party wish to exchange traffic under this Agreement through a third party provider other than a third party ILEC tandem provider currently being used by the

[40054/1] 40

²⁰⁰ Ex. 100 (Burns Direct) at 16, line 11 to end of page.

²⁰¹ Ex. 100 (Burns Direct) at 16, line 11 to end of page.

²⁰² Proposed Agreement § 42.1.

²⁰³ Ex. 1 (Easton Direct) at 65, lines 5-17.

Parties for the exchange of traffic, that Party will request an amendment to this Agreement.²⁰⁴

- 154. CenturyLink EQ argues that its language should be adopted because HTI's proposed language does not make it clear that the originating party is responsible for any transit charges.²⁰⁵
- 155. At the hearing, CenturyLink EQ witness Mr. Easton admitted that the last sentence of HTI's proposed language does, in fact, clearly specify responsibility for third party transit charges satisfying CenturyLink EQ's concerns in that regard and also addresses CenturyLink EQ's other concerns.²⁰⁶

Recommendation

156. HTI's proposed language for Issue 46 should be adopted. The language fairly places the responsibility on the parties.

Issue 50: Requirements for Establishment of Direct Interconnection

157. The parties have agreed that HTI will establish direct interconnection with CenturyLink EQ when the total volume of indirectly exchanged traffic between the parties meets certain thresholds. HTI has also agreed that it will issue an ASR order to establish direct connection within thirty days of being informed that the threshold has been met.²⁰⁷ The dispute is about CenturyLink EQ's proposal to require HTI to reimburse it for charges it incurs if the direct connection is not established within the 30 days.

158. For Issue 50, CenturyLink EQ proposes:

CTL will notify HTI that traffic triggers in Sections 42.3 or 42.4 triggers have been met or exceeded. HTI will agree to issue ASRs to establish interconnection within thirty (30) days of receiving such notice. CLEC will reimburse CenturyLink for any transit charges billed by an intermediary carrier after the thirty (30) Day period for traffic originated by CenturyLink. CLEC will also reimburse CenturyLink for any transport costs that would be CLEC's responsibility under the Direct Interconnection terms. ²⁰⁸

HTI objects to the last two sentences and proposes they be deleted. Its proposed language is:

[40054/1] 41

_

 $^{^{204}}$ Ex. 1 (Easton Direct) at 64, line 20, to 65, line 2.

²⁰⁵ Ex. 1 (Easton Direct) at 65, lines 20-27.

²⁰⁶ Tr. (Easton) at 104, line 6, to 105, line 18.

²⁰⁷ Ex. 1 (Easton Direct) at 69, lines 21-28.

²⁰⁸ Ex. 1 (Easton Direct) at 69, lines 6-20.

CTL will notify HTI that traffic triggers in Sections 42.3 or 42.4 triggers have been met or exceeded. HTI will agree to issue ASRs to establish interconnection within thirty (30) days of receiving such notice.²⁰⁹

- 159. HTI argues that the effect of the CenturyLink EQ's proposal is to impose upon HTI financial consequences for circumstances that are beyond its control. Although HTI can issue an order to establish direct interconnection with CenturyLink EQ, it cannot control how long it will take to establish the interconnection. Further, as this case has shown, negotiations regarding the establishment of a point of interconnection can be highly contentious and very drawn out. Given the history, it seems very unlikely that interconnection can be established in fewer than thirty days.²¹⁰
- 160. CenturyLink EQ argues that it needs the additional language to provide a necessary incentive to insure that the additional interconnection is established.²¹¹

Recommendation

161. The following language should be adopted for Issue 50 be adopted:

CenturyLink will notify CLEC when traffic triggers in Sections 42.3 or 42.4 triggers have been met or exceeded. CLEC will issue ASRs within thirty (30) days of receiving such notice for required additional interconnection. The parties shall cooperate in good faith to insure the prompt establishment of the requested interconnection.

162. This is HTI's proposed language, with some language revised for clarity. HTI should move promptly when a threshold is reached so that CenturyLink EQ is not negatively affected. At the same time, CenturyLink EQ must cooperate in the process and it would be unfair to penalize HTI for delays caused by CenturyLink EQ.

Issues 54 and 57: Establishment of Bi-Directional, Two-Way Trunk Groups/Conversion of One Way Trunk Groups

- 163. Despite the title, the primary issue in these two trunk group issues is whether language that does not affect HTI, but that may affect other carriers that might want to opt into this proposed agreement, should be included. CenturyLink EQ would prefer an agreement with broader provisions for those that may opt in; HTI would prefer that it be tailored just to HTI's needs.
- 164. Issue Nos. 54 and 57 concern language regarding the use of bi-directional two-way trunk groups rather than one-way trunk groups. The parties have agreed to include the following language proposed by HTI requiring the use of bi-directional two-way trunk groups:

[40054/1] 42

-

²⁰⁹ Issues Matrix Issue 50.

²¹⁰ HTI Brief at 43.

Ex. 1 (Easton Direct) at 70, lines 1-3.

Non-Access Telecommunications Traffic. The existing Local Interconnection Trunk Group(s) in place between the Parties are bidirectional two-way groups for the exchange of Non Access Telecommunications Traffic. Should additional groups be required for this traffic, the Parties agree to establish bi-directional two-way trunk groups.

Because HTI already uses exclusively bi-directional two-way trunk groups, it has proposed striking language proposed by CenturyLink EQ relating to one-way trunk groups that does not apply to it. ²¹²

165. CenturyLink EQ does not dispute that the language that HTI proposes striking does not apply to HTI, but urges that the language be included anyway because this language is CenturyLink EQ's standard language, which may be necessary for other carriers who may choose to opt into the HTI interconnection agreement. CenturyLink EQ points out that HTI would not be harmed by its additional language, while other parties could opt into this agreement without negotiating or arbitrating these issues. The same issues that exist with Issue 54 apply to CenturyLink EQ's proposed language on Issue 57. Again, CenturyLink EQ asserts that HTI would not be affected by this language and it makes sense to adopt it so that other parties can opt into this agreement without negotiating or arbitrating these issues.

166. HTI argues that by not allowing a "Statement of Generally Available Terms" or "SGAT" generally instead of in limited situations under 47 C.F.R. § 51.271(c)(1)(B), "Congress" recognized the need for individual CLECs to be able to enter into agreements that are specific to their particular competitive needs. It notes that the FCC's "all-or-nothing" rule, which requires a CLEC to opt into an existing interconnection agreement in its entirety, was intended to produce creative agreements that are better tailored to meet carriers' individual needs. ²¹⁵

Recommendation

167. CenturyLink EQ's proposed language should be adopted for Issues 54 and 57. 216

168. CenturyLink EQ has presented reasonable justification for the proposed agreement being structured to facilitate other carriers choosing to opt into it. It would make it easier for them to do so. It would also facilitate CenturyLink EQ's compliance with its obligation under the Telecommunications Act to make any interconnection provided under an approved ICA to which it is a party available to any other requesting

²¹² Ex. 1 (Burns Direct) at 18; Tr. (Easton) at 107, line 12, to 108, line 10.

²¹³ Ex. 2 (Easton Rebuttal) at 53, lines 1-15; Tr. (Easton) at 109, lines 11-17.

²¹⁴ Ex. 1 (Easton Direct) at 74, line 1, to 75, line 10.

²¹⁵ HTI Brief at 45-46.

²¹⁶ Because of changes in language that were not incorporated in the last Issues Matrix, the exact language proposal was not available to the Administrative Law Judge.

telecommunications carrier upon the same terms and conditions.²¹⁷ HTI's arguments were less compelling on this issue.

Issues 59-61: Trunk forecasting

- 169. Issues 59-61 concern CenturyLink EQ proposed language regarding the consequences of over-forecasting trunk requirements. HTI originally proposed to delete this language in its entirety; however, this language provides a necessary and important incentive to provide accurate trunk forecasts. CenturyLink EQ believes that if it provisions unnecessary trunking based on an inaccurate forecast by HTI, then HTI should be held responsible for expenses incurred by CenturyLink EQ as a result of the inaccurate forecast. The language in Issue 61 ensures that expenses will only be recouped in cases where CenturyLink EQ actually suffers financial harm as a result of over-forecasting. Should the over-forecasting not lead to financial harm, no additional expenses will be recouped.²¹⁸
- 170. HTI is willing to accept the CenturyLink EQ language for Issues 59 and 61 if CenturyLink EQ is willing to accept the following language for proposed by HTI for Issue 60:

The calculation of CLEC over-forecasted capacity will be based on the number of DS1 equivalents expressed as a percentage to the total capacity of the facility cross-section. Example: A CLEC over-forecast of 10 DS1s in a facility segment served by an OC3 (84 DS1s) equates to an over-forecast of 11.9%. ²¹⁹

171. CenturyLink EQ opposes HTI's language for Issue 60 and proposes the following language in its place:

The calculation of the twenty percent (20%) over-forecast will be based on the number of DS1 equivalents for the total traffic volume to CenturyLink.²²⁰

- 172. CenturyLink EQ prefers its language because it believes the purpose of trunk forecasting is to provision sufficient trunk capacity to handle actual traffic volumes. The CenturyLink EQ calculation is straight forward and is based on the number of DS1 equivalents for the total actual traffic volume. It says that HTI's proposed calculation language does not describe how actual traffic volumes are used to determine the overforecast condition. ²²¹
- 173. HTI claims its proposal provides additional clarity regarding how the overforecasting will be determined. HTI does not object to bearing the financial

²¹⁷ 47 U.S.C. § 252(i).

²¹⁸ CenturyLink EQ Brief at 27.

²¹⁹ Ex. 100 (Burns Direct) at 20-21; Ex. 1 (Easton Direct) at 77, lines 6-16.

²²⁰ Ex. 1 (Easton Direct) at 76, lines 7-12.

Ex. 1 (Easton Direct) at 75-77; Ex. 2 (Easton Rebuttal) at 55.

consequences of over-forecasting, provided that there is some certainty regarding the circumstances under which those financial consequences would apply. HTI's proposal is reasonable and will help to avoid future disputes.²²²

Recommendation

- 174. The language in Issues 59 and 61 says that if CLEC over-forecasts its trunking requirement by 20%, CenturyLink EQ may recoup any expense it incurs, unless the facility cannot be used for another purpose during the next year. Neither of the proposals is clear as to how the over-forecast number is calculated. Undoubtedly, the parties know how the calculation is done, but no witness explained the calculation. HTI's proposal divides the number of DS1 equivalents over-forecasted by the total capacity of the facility cross-section, so that part is clear. The CenturyLink EQ calculation does not say what it uses for the divisor. It may be the forecasted requirement, but it is not clear.
- 175. Because the HTI proposal has a bit more clarity to it, the Administrative Law Judge recommends that it be adopted for Issues 59, 60, and 61.

Issues 64-67: Transit Traffic Obligations

176. Issues 64-67 relate to disputes regarding obligations associated with Transit Traffic. ²²³ Issue 64 involves which party should take responsibility for resolving issues associated with blocking for traffic originating from HTI. Issue 65 involves which party should take responsibility for compensating carriers that terminate traffic that HTI originates. Issue 66 involves HTI's proposal to defer the issue of the rate it pays for transit records to another proceeding. Issue 67 involves HTI's liability in the event it improperly routes traffic.

Issue 64: Blocked Traffic

177. Issue 64 concerns responsibilities when transit traffic is blocked by a third party. CenturyLink EQ proposes:

In the event Transit Traffic routed by one Party to the other Party is blocked by a third party, the Party to whom the Transit Traffic was routed shall not unreasonably withhold providing commercially reasonable assistance. ²²⁴

HTI proposes the following language:

In the event Transit Traffic routed by one Party to the other Party is blocked by a third party, CenturyLink agrees to accept a trouble ticket on

²²² HTI Brief at 47-48.

²²³ "Transit traffic" is traffic that originates on the network of one carrier, travels across ("transits") the network of a second carrier, and is delivered by the second carrier to a third carrier. HTI Brief at 48. ²²⁴ Ex. 1 (Easton Direct) at 79, lines 13-19.

the matter and shall not unreasonably withhold providing commercially reasonable assistance. ²²⁵

- 178. According to HTI, trouble tickets are processed and cleared pursuant to known procedures, but there are no similar standards for what constitutes "commercially reasonable assistance." Thus, eliminating language requiring that it accept a trouble ticket effectively eliminates the ability to track CenturyLink's performance.²²⁶
- 179. The type of call that would be blocked in this situation is HTI originated traffic using CenturyLink EQ's transit service to reach a third party. If CenturyLink EQ received a trouble ticket, it would investigate it and resolve it with the third party or refer it to HTI if the problem is a disagreement between HTI and the third party about a non-technical issue. CenturyLink EQ does not want to "accept," as opposed to "receive," the trouble ticket and thereby become responsible for resolving a non-technical issue between HTI and the third party. ²²⁷

Recommendation

180. CenturyLink EQ's language should be adopted. The "commercially reasonable assistance" it would provide appears to be appropriate for the troubles that might arise. HTI should be in a better position to resolve issues with the third party that CenturyLink EQ would refer to it.

Issue 65: Financial Responsibility for Transit Traffic

181. The parties have already agreed in Section 55.2.2. of the proposed agreement that, for transit traffic, CenturyLink does not have any responsibility for termination charges which may be assessed by the third party carrier and that it will be the responsibility of each party to enter into arrangements with third party terminating carriers for the exchange of transit traffic.²²⁸ The dispute regarding Issue 65 concerns the following language requested by CenturyLink EQ:

CLEC shall be responsible for payment of Transit Service charges on Transit Traffic routed to CenturyLink by CLEC and for any charges assessed by the terminating carrier. CLEC agrees to enter into traffic exchange agreements with third-parties prior to routing any Transit Traffic to CenturyLink for delivery to such third parties, and CLEC will indemnify, defend and hold harmless CenturyLink against any and all charges levied by such third-party terminating carrier with respect to Transit Traffic, including but not limited to, termination charges related to such traffic and attorneys' fees and expenses.²²⁹

²²⁵ Ex. 1 (Easton Direct) at 79, lines 20-25.

²²⁶ HTI Brief at 48-49.

²²⁷ Ex. 1 (Easton Direct) at 80.

²²⁸ Ex. 1 (Easton Direct); Ex. WRE-2 at 62; Tr. (Easton) at 109, line 17, to 110, line 3.

²²⁹ Ex. 1 (Easton Direct) at 81, lines 5-18.

- 182. HTI objects to this proposal and asks that the provision be omitted in its entirety. HTI points out that the first part of the proposal, which states that CenturyLink EQ is not responsible for third party termination charges for transited traffic, is already reflected in agreed-upon Section 55.2.2. language and is redundant and unnecessary.²³⁰
- 183. HTI's greater concern is the language that requires HTI to defend, indemnify, and hold CenturyLink EQ harmless for such charges, including attorneys' fees and expenses. It believes CenturyLink EQ's language creates the potential for unlimited financial exposure because HTI does not control what termination charges a third party carrier may bill CenturyLink EQ, does not have control over what CenturyLink EQ elects to pay, and would be prevented from exercising an important right to dispute such charges when appropriate. HTI suggests that if CenturyLink EQ were entitled to an unlimited right to indemnification, it would have little incentive to dispute such charges.²³¹
- 184. CenturyLink EQ describes its language as necessary to clarify CLEC responsibilities and the fact that it is not responsible as the transit provider in this case for any charges the terminating carrier may assess. Rather, HTI as the originating carrier is responsible for such charges and should indemnify CenturyLink EQ for any such charges it may be assessed. When asked whether the Section 55.2.2. language adequately addressed its concerns, CenturyLink EQ described its language as "a little stronger and takes it a step further." It also pointed out that as the transit provider, it would be the middle person between the originating and terminating carriers. ²³³

Recommendation

- 185. CenturyLink EQ's proposal for Issue 65 should be rejected.
- 186. The only substantive addition that CenturyLink EQ's legalistic language makes to the Section 55.2.2. language is attorneys' fees. Attorneys' fees are a very serious threat to most people; well beyond a "little stronger" and "a step further." They are out of place in this situation, which CenturyLink EQ testified is not likely to occur because the bill will go to HTI in the first place. The attorney' fees language is not appropriate; the remainder of the proposal is redundant and not needed.

Issue 66: Filing of Rates for Providing Usage Records

187. In instances where HTI is the terminating carrier and CenturyLink EQ is the transit carrier, the parties have agreed that CenturyLink EQ will provide records

²³⁰ HTI Brief at 49.

²³¹ HTI Brief at 50.

²³² Ex. 1 (Easton Direct) at 81, line 24, to 82, line 2.

²³³ Tr. (Easton) at 110, line 17, to 111, line 3.

necessary for HTI to bill the originating carrier and HTI will pay CenturyLink EQ for such records.²³⁴ CenturyLink EQ proposed the following language to state that agreement:

Upon request by CLEC and to the extent possible, CenturyLink agrees to provide the CLEC information on Transit Traffic which is routed to CLEC utilizing CenturyLink's Transit Service. CenturyLink shall bill for message provisioning and, if applicable data tape charges, related to the provision of usage records. Record charges are listed in Table 1 as Message Provisioning.²³⁵

HTI agrees to everything except the last sentence. It proposes to delete it and replace it with: "Record charges must be filed with a rate with the MN PUC."

- 188. HTI supports its proposal by arguing that it will assist the Commission in carrying out its regulatory responsibility under Minn. Stat. § 237.06 to assure that rates for telecommunications services are fair and reasonable. ²³⁶
- 189. CenturyLink EQ rejects HTI's proposal. It believes that the Messaging Provision rate included in the Table 1 Rate Sheet attached to the proposed agreement that will be filed with the Commission for approval is sufficient and that no further filing with the Commission will be necessary.²³⁷

Recommendation

- 190. CenturyLink EQ's language should be adopted for Issue 66.
- 191. Attaching a Rate Sheet as Table One to the interconnection agreement is an appropriate method of filing the rates. Mr. Easton's version of the proposed agreement has a Table One Rate Sheet attached showing several rates including one for "Messaging Provision.²³⁸ This is not a new process. CenturyLink EQ has filed over 50 interconnection agreements with rates with the Commission and none have been rejected.²³⁹ The format need not be changed at this point.

Issue 67: Transit traffic thresholds

192. The parties agree to proposed language that would require HTI to establish a direct connection when the amount of Transit Traffic meets certain volume thresholds. They disagree as to a final sentence stating the remedy if HTI fails to establish a direct connection within 60 days of being notified of the need to do so. The portion they agree to, with some minor edits made by CenturyLink EQ on September 26, 2014, states:

²³⁴ HTI Brief at 50.

²³⁵ Ex. 1 (Easton Direct) at 82, lines 10-17; Issues Matrix Issue 66.

²³⁰ HTI Brief at 50.

²³⁷ Ex. 1 (Easton Direct) at 83, lines 1-10; Issues Matrix Issue 66.

²³⁸ Ex. 1 (Easton Direct) at WRE-2.

²³⁹ Tr. (Gordon) at 116.

²⁴⁰ Ex. 1 (Easton Direct) at 83, line 15, to 84, line 10.

Notwithstanding any other provision to the contrary, once the volume of Transit Traffic exchanged between CLEC and a third party exceeds the equivalent of three (3) DS1s of traffic, CenturyLink may, but shall not be obligated to require CLEC to establish a direct connection to the parties with whom they are exchanging traffic. CenturyLink also reserves the right to require CLEC to establish a direct connection to the third party if, the tandem is at or approaching capacity limitations. These limitations may include but are not limited to a lack of trunk port capacity or processor capacity based on the then existing tandem and network configuration. Within sixty (60) Days after CenturyLink notifies CLEC of the requirement to direct connect, CLEC shall establish a direct interconnection with such third party. ²⁴¹

193. CenturyLink EQ had originally proposed an additional sentence that, upon failure of HTI to establish direct connection, allowed CenturyLink EQ to charge HTI at double the normal transit rate or discontinue transit service. HTI objected to that as illegal and proposed replacing the last sentence with the following Language:²⁴²

After sixty (60) Days, if CLEC has not established a direct interconnection, CenturyLink may thereafter follow the process outlined in section 24 Dispute Resolution.²⁴³

194. CenturyLink EQ provided a revised proposal for the last sentence on September 26, 2014, that reads as follows:

After sixty (60) Days, if CLEC has not established a direct interconnection, CenturyLink may thereafter charge CLEC for such transit service including Transit Traffic that terminates with CLEC at the transit rate set forth in Table One, or after following the Dispute Resolution process outlined in section 24 and with the approval of the Commission, discontinue providing transit service to CLEC.²⁴⁴

- 195. HTI considers CenturyLink EQ's revised proposal a step in the right direction, but argues that it would still impose consequences on HTI for circumstances beyond its control. It claims that in some instances, 60 days may not be a sufficient amount of time to establish interconnection.²⁴⁵
- 196. CenturyLink EQ chose to specify 60 days because it is a reasonable time frame to establish the required direct connection to an end office. That is a "very" standard process that would not be subject to the BFR process.²⁴⁶

²⁴¹ Issues Matrix Issue 67.

²⁴² Ex. 1 (Easton Direct) at 84, lines 12-31.

²⁴³ Issues Matrix Issue 67.

²⁴⁴ *Id.*

²⁴⁵ HTI Brief at 51.

²⁴⁶ Tr. (Easton) at 111, line 21, to 112, line 13.

Recommendation

197. CenturyLink EQ's proposal should be adopted for Issue 67 as follows:

Notwithstanding any other provision to the contrary, once the volume of Transit Traffic exchanged between CLEC and a third party exceeds the equivalent of three (3) DS1s of traffic, CenturyLink may, but shall not be obligated to require CLEC to establish a direct connection to the parties with whom they are exchanging traffic. CenturyLink also reserves the right to require CLEC to establish a direct connection to the third party if, the tandem is at or approaching capacity limitations. These limitations may include but are not limited to a lack of trunk port capacity or processor capacity based on the then existing tandem and network configuration. Within sixty (60) Days after CenturyLink notifies CLEC of the requirement to direct connect, CLEC shall establish a direct interconnection with such third party. After sixty (60) Days, if CLEC has not established a direct interconnection, CenturyLink may thereafter charge CLEC for such transit service including Transit Traffic that terminates with CLEC at the transit rate set forth in Table One, or, after following the Dispute Resolution process outlined in section 24 and with the approval of the Commission, discontinue providing transit service to CLEC.

198. The requirements are clear and attainable and the remedy is fair to both parties.

Issues 67.1, 18, and 36: Billing Records

- 199. Neither party currently terminates any toll traffic to the other party under their current interconnection agreement.²⁴⁷ HTI then learned that CenturyLink EQ does intend to route VOIP-PSTN toll traffic to HTI both directly and indirectly.²⁴⁸ HTI does not object to the concept of VOIP-PSTN toll traffic being routed under the parties' proposed agreement, but it wants to assure that when that happens, it is able to bill the originating carrier for that traffic, whether that carrier is CenturyLink EQ or another carrier.²⁴⁹
- 200. It is not technically feasible for HTI to discern and measure CenturyLink EQ-originated IntraLATA VoIP PSTN traffic that is terminated to the HTI network commingled with traffic from other carriers. Accordingly, HTI proposed the following provision as Issue 67:

Should either Party choose to begin routing its own IntraLATA Toll Traffic or Toll VoIP PSTN Traffic directly or indirectly to the other Party, the Party making such election shall first provide ninety (90) days written notice to the other Party for the express purposes of amending this section to address the provision of usage records.

[40054/1] 50

²⁴⁷ Ex. 101 (Burns Rebuttal Public) at 17, line 1.

²⁴⁸ Ex. 101 (Burns Rebuttal Public) at 16, lines 5-8.

Ex. 101 (Burns Rebuttal Public) at 16, line 8, to 17, line 7.

Although CenturyLink EQ has agreed that it will provide HTI with "information on Transit Traffic,"²⁵⁰ it has not provided critical details, such as data content, format, and media, regarding the information to be provided.²⁵¹

- 201. CenturyLink EQ argues that these toll records should be made instead by HTI, or that HTI may use the transit records already discussed and that by shifting the issue to a future amendment, HTI seeks to require CenturyLink EQ to participate in a record exchange that it does not agree will occur even on a future date.²⁵²
- 202. CenturyLink EQ Witness Mr. Easton testified that Sections 43.1.2.b and 55.2.2 of the interconnection agreement contain agreed-upon language regarding how Toll VoIP-PSTN Traffic is to be qualified and billed. But neither of these provisions require the provision of usage records. Section 43.1.2.b relates to determining the jurisdiction (i.e., local or non-local) of a VoIP call. Section 55.2.2 relates to financial responsibility for transit traffic sent by HTI to CenturyLink EQ for delivery to another carrier. These provisions do not concern the issue of HTI obtaining billing records so that it can properly bill CenturyLink EQ for the traffic.
- 203. Based upon its prior understanding, HTI proposed contract language at Issue 18 providing that the parties would not route toll traffic to one another, either directly or indirectly. It proposed related language for Issue 36 and 51 as well. It appears that Issue 51 has now been resolved and closed.²⁵⁴

Recommendation

- 204. HTI's language should be adopted for Issues 67.1, 18, and 36.
- 205. It appears that HTI was not fully informed by CenturyLink EQ that it was or would be providing transit service to providers that serve VoIP providers and that IP-originated traffic would be sent to HTI. HTI should be allowed to prepare for that before it happens so it can set up a bill or other process to allow it to be paid properly for that service.

Issues 69, 70, 73, 74, 75, 76: BFR Process Timelines and Disclosures

206. Issues 69, 70, 73, 74, and 75 relate to different timelines that will apply when the BFR process is used. In general, CenturyLink EQ has proposed timelines that are the same as contained in its other interconnection agreements. HTI has proposed timelines, sometimes based upon language in a the Minnesota ATT-US West arbitrated agreement, to either afford itself more time or CenturyLink EQ less time in light of its

²⁵⁰ See Issue 66.

²⁵¹ Ex. 101 (Burns Rebuttal Public) at 16, lines 15-21.

²⁵² CenturyLink EQ Brief at 28.

²⁵³ Ex. 2 (Éaston Rebuttal) at 43, lines 8-12.

²⁵⁴ Issues Matrix Issues 18, 36, and 51.

needs and capabilities as a small company that must rely heavily on outside consultants for these kinds of issues. ²⁵⁵

Issue 69

- 207. In Issue 69, CenturyLink EQ proposed that it acknowledge receipt of a BFR request within ten business days, the same as in its other CLEC agreements. HTI proposes to reduce that to two business days because it is a simple task and because similar language from the Minnesota ATT-US West arbitrated agreement used two days. ²⁵⁶
- 208. CenturyLink EQ witness Mr. Easton testified that CenturyLink EQ cannot easily and quickly adopt the short timeframes and streamlined processes that its affiliate CenturyLink QC has developed over the past decade. Its systems are separate and changes to CenturyLink EQ's BFR and other processes have been delayed for a number of years.²⁵⁷

Recommendation

- 209. HTI's proposal should be adopted for Issue 69.
- 210. Sending out an acknowledgement should not take ten days.

Issue 70

211. For Issue 70, CenturyLink EQ proposed:

Except under extraordinary circumstances, within thirty days of receipt of a complete and accurate Request, CenturyLink will approve or deny the Request (Preliminary Analysis). If CenturyLink denies CLEC's Request, the Preliminary Analysis will provide the reason(s) for such denial.

HTI proposes to modify the language to read:

Within thirty (30) Days of its receipt of a complete and accurate Request, the analysis shall specify CenturyLink's conclusions as to whether or not the requested Interconnection complies with the requirements of the Act or state law. CenturyLink will approve or deny the Request (Preliminary Analysis). If CenturyLink denies CLEC's Request, the Preliminary Analysis will provide the reason(s) for such denial.

212. CenturyLink EQ says it may need more than 30 days to respond in extraordinary circumstance, such as a request for multiple different interconnections. It

²⁵⁵ HTI Brief at 51-52.

²⁵⁶ Issues Matrix Issue 69.

Ex. 1 (Easton Direct) at 87, lines 3-13.

also claims again that it is not Qwest and does not have the streamlined process flows to handle even the few BFRs it has received to date.²⁵⁸

Recommendation

213. HTI's proposal for Issue 70 should be modified to read as follows and adopted:

Within thirty (30) Days of its receipt of a complete and accurate Request, CenturyLink will approve or deny the Request (Preliminary Analysis). If CenturyLink denies CLEC's Request, the analysis shall specify CenturyLink's conclusions as to whether the requested Interconnection complies with the requirements of the Act and state law and provide the reason(s) for such denial.

214. As this case has demonstrated and as CenturyLink EQ is now admitting, CenturyLink EQ has not been processing BFRs in a reasonably expeditious manner. It may not yet be capable of doing so. That, however, is not an excuse for maintaining the BFR process and not acting upon requests for very long periods. CenturyLink EQ should respond to a request within 30 days.

Issue 73

- 215. In Issue 73, the proposals allow the CLEC to respond to the Preliminary Analysis. CenturyLink EQ proposed a 30 day time frame to do so, the same as in its other CLEC agreements. HTI proposes to enlarge that to 60 days because of it limited financial and technical resources.²⁵⁹
- 216. CenturyLink EQ argued that if it has only 30 days to act on a BFR, HTI should be able to act within the same period. 260

Recommendation

- 217. CenturyLink EQ's proposal should be adopted for Issue 73.
- 218. HTI would have been working on its interconnection request since before it sent it to CenturyLink EQ and should be able to act within 30 days.

Issue 74

219. In Issue 74, the proposals require CenturyLink EQ to set a tentative availability date of when the interconnection will be installed and ready. CenturyLink EQ proposed that it be required to make reasonable efforts to do so within 90 days from receipt of the CLEC's Final Acceptance. The parties have agreed to language saying that if the BFR is not completed by the availability date, the parties will then determine a

²⁵⁸ Ex. 1 (Easton Direct) at 88, line 19, to 89, line 8.

lssues Matrix Issue 73.

²⁶⁰ Ex. 1 (Easton Direct) at 90, lines 13-16.

mutually agreeable availability date. HTI proposes to reduce the time frame to 45 days, saying that should be adequate and because when that is not possible, relief is available. 261

CenturyLink EQ argued that a BFR is by definition non-standard and usually requires a longer time to be made available. It said it would make every effort to meet the request in less than 90 days. 262

Recommendation

- 221. HTI's proposal should be adopted for Issue 74.
- 222. Once the Final Acceptance is signed, it should not take three months to install the interconnection. Much of the planning for facilities, construction, and anything else required would have been completed during review of the request and preparation of the Final Quote. The language provides some flexibility.

Issue 75

- 223. In Issue 75, CenturyLink EQ proposes that within 30 days of receipt of the Final Quote, CLEC must either confirm or cancel its Request in writing or submit any disputed issues with the Final Quote for dispute resolution. HTI proposes to enlarge the time frame to 60 days saying that 60 days is reasonable given that CenturyLink EQ's financial and technical resources are far greater that HTI's.²⁶³
- 224. CenturyLink EQ argued that HTI should be able to complete its analysis within the same 30 days the CenturyLink EQ must complete its review of the request and stated that extending the period increases the risk that the quote would no longer be accurate. 264

Recommendation

- CenturyLink EQ's proposal should be adopted for Issue 75.
- Thirty days should be adequate time for HTI to accept or reject the Final Quote. CenturyLink EQ's statements are believable.

Issue 76

227. For Issue 76, HTI has proposed the following, which it took from the Minnesota ATT-US WEST arbitration agreement:

CenturyLink will provide notice to CLECs of all BFRs which have been deployed or denied, provided, however, that identifying information such

²⁶¹ Issues Matrix Issue 74.

²⁶² Ex. 1 (Easton Direct) at 91, lines 18-24.

lssues Matrix Issue 75.

²⁶⁴ Ex. 1 (Easton Direct) at 92, line 24, to 93, line 4.

as the name of the requesting CLEC and the location of the request shall be removed. CenturyLink shall make available a topical list of the BFRs that it has received from CLECs. The description of each item on that list shall be sufficient to allow CLEC to understand the general nature of the product, service, or combination thereof that has been requested and a summary of the disposition of the request as soon as it is made. CenturyLink shall also be required upon the request of CLEC to provide sufficient details about the terms and conditions of any granted requests to allow CLEC to take the same offering under substantially identical circumstances. CenturyLink shall not be required to provide information about the request initially made by CLEC whose BFR was granted, but must make available the same kinds of information about what it offered in response to the BFR as it does for other products or services available under this Agreement. CLEC shall be entitled to the same offering terms and conditions made under any granted BFR, provided that CenturyLink may require the use of ICB pricing where it makes a demonstration to CLEC of the need therefore.²⁶⁵

- 228. HTI wants this provision so it can obtain information to determine whether another company has made a similar request and how CenturyLink EQ addressed that request. This information is necessary for HTI to assure that it is receiving at parity and without discrimination consistent with the Telecommunications Act.²⁶⁶
- 229. CenturyLink EQ opposed this proposal on the grounds that such disclosure is not legally required and would impose an undue burden on it because it does not have a system in place to collect such information or to provide the information to CLECs. ²⁶⁷

Recommendation

- 230. HTI's proposal for Issue 76 should be adopted.
- 231. This proposal is related to the disclosure requirement addressed in Issue 24. An ILEC is required to provide technical information about its network facilities sufficient to allow the requesting carrier to achieve interconnection consistent with the requirements of the FCC's rules. The BFR information requested in this Issue 76 is precisely the type of information that must be provided. As pointed out by HTI, according to CenturyLink EQ, its BFR process is used only rarely, so complying with the disclosure requirement should not be burdensome.

²⁶⁸ 47 C.F.R. § 51.305(g).

²⁶⁵ Ex. 1 (Easton Direct) at 93, line 8, to 94, line 3.

²⁶⁶ HTI Brief at 53.

²⁶⁷ Ex. 1 (Easton Direct) at 84, lines 5-14.

Did CenturyLink EQ Negotiate in Good Faith?

232. HTI does not seek a specific finding in this case that CenturyLink EQ negotiated in bad faith, but it does wish to put the issue in context.²⁶⁹ CenturyLink EQ says it negotiated in good faith.²⁷⁰ The comments in their briefs are restated here.

HTI's View

- 233. In his opening testimony, Mr. Burns explained the ways in which CenturyLink EQ had failed to negotiate in good faith, causing HTI to suffer unnecessary delay and expense.²⁷¹
- 234. CenturyLink EQ's positions on all of the major issues lack any colorable legal support and are consistently contrary to the clear requirements of the Telecommunications Act. The key points of dispute do not turn on gray areas in the law. The CLEC's right to interconnect at any technically feasible point, the CLEC's right to meet point interconnection, the *CAF Order's* prohibition on any increase in reciprocal compensation rates are all well-established. Nor do they turn on disputed or complicated facts. ²⁷²
- 235. Essentially, once the parties reached an impasse with regard to the issue of the POI location, negotiations ground to a halt and very few issues were resolved until well into this proceeding. CenturyLink's scorched earth tactics have driven HTI's costs to arbitrate up and should not be condoned. Many, if not most of the items on the initial arbitration list concern matters which should not have been contentious. Indeed, much of CenturyLink's effort appears to be directed toward re-opening issues that have been resolved between the parties for years. This arbitration proceeding was necessary only because of CenturyLink EQ's stubborn refusal to acknowledge its clear legal obligations. ²⁷³

CenturyLink EQ's View

236. Mr. Easton's rebuttal testimony described CenturyLink EQ's view that it was HTI, rather than CenturyLink EQ, that caused unnecessary delay and unneeded additional work. HTI failed to attend several scheduled negotiations calls with no prior notice of cancellation.²⁷⁴ HTI's non-standard application of the document redlining process also added additional delays.²⁷⁵ At one point, CenturyLink EQ had to wait

²⁶⁹ HTI Reply Brief at 13.

²⁷⁰ CenturyLink EQ Brief at 25.

²⁷¹ HTI Reply Brief at 12.

²⁷² HTI Reply Brief at 13.

²⁷³ *Id.*

See Ex. WRE-4.

²⁷⁵ See last 3 paragraphs in Ex. WRE-5.

several weeks to receive HTI's response to proposed language. 276 Any HTI complaints about CenturyLink EQ's behavior during the negotiations are without merit.²⁷⁷

237. HTI appears to confuse CenturyLink EQ's refusal to agree with each of HTI's proposals with the concept of bad faith negotiations. The Minnesota Commission recently addressed this issue and rejected identical advocacy from DTI. It reasoned:

Good faith does not require such concessions. And where parties believe that a carrier has a duty to make a unilateral concession, parties need not rely on good faith; arbitration may provide a more appropriate path for relief. 278

HTI's claims of bad faith negotiations have no basis and should be dismissed. 279

Recommendation

- 238. There should be no finding that CenturyLink EQ negotiated in bad faith because HTI does not seek it and because the Administrative Law Judge would not recommend it. While HTI was largely correct on the major issues, its claim that CenturyLink EQ's positions on all of the major issues "lacked any colorable legal support" was not correct. There were several exceptions to HTI's sweeping generalizations that did not stand up. HTI is not always entitled to interconnection without compensating CenturyLink EQ for its costs and for use of its facilities.
- 239. It was surprising, and disturbing, that CenturyLink EQ is years behind CenturyLink QC in developing its BFR systems and processes. But that should not have the impact on CLECs of delaying interconnection that it had in this case. That impact likely translates into negative impacts upon consumers.

Based upon the foregoing Findings and Recommendations, the Administrative Law Judge hereby makes the following.

CONCLUSIONS OF LAW

The Commission has jurisdiction, pursuant to 47 U.S.C. § 252(b), Minn. Stat. §§ 216A.05, 237.16, and Minn, R. 7812.1700 (2013), to determine all issues in dispute between the parties concerning the terms and conditions of interconnection.

²⁷⁶ See Exhibit WRE-6.

²⁷⁷ CenturyLink EQ Brief at 25.

In the Matter of Digital Telecommunications, Inc's Complaint Against Qwest Corporation, Docket No. P-5681, 421/C-09-302, Order Denying Relief, (Sept. 10, 2014), pp. 23-24.

https://www.edockets.state.mn.us/EFiling/edockets/searchDocuments.do?method=showPoup&documentl d={BD19EEFB-B475-4675-A89B-29FCA9128206}&documentTitle=20149-102965-01. See Order for proposition that the obligation to negotiate in good faith does not require a party to compromise its position.
²⁷⁹ CenturyLink EQ Brief at 25-26.

- 2. Section 252(c) of the Telecommunications Act requires that the Commission ensure that the resolution of the disputed issues meets the requirements of Section 251 and its implementing regulations. The Commission is required to make an affirmative determination that the rates, terms and conditions that it prescribes in the arbitration proceeding for interconnection are consistent with the requirements of Sections 251(b) and (c) and Section 252(d) of the Act.
- 3. For the reasons discussed in the above Findings and Recommendations, the interconnection agreement language proposed in the above Findings and Recommendations to resolve the disputed issues is fully consistent with the requirements of the Telecommunications Act and its implementing regulations.
- 4. Any of the above Findings and Recommendations more properly considered a Conclusion is adopted as such.

Dated: January 16, 2015

s/Steve M. Mihalchick
STEVE M. MIHALCHICK
Administrative Law Judge

Reported: Shaddix & Associates

NOTICE

The Commission may, at its own discretion, accept, modify, or reject the Administrative Law Judge's recommendations. The recommendations of the Administrative Law Judge have no legal effect unless expressly adopted by the Commission as its final order.

Exceptions to this Report, if any, by any party adversely affected must be filed under the time frames established in the Commission's rules of practice and procedure, Minn. R. 7829.2700 (2013) and 7829.3100, unless otherwise directed by the Commission. Exceptions should be specific and stated and numbered separately. Oral argument before a majority of the Commission will be permitted pursuant to Minn. R. 7829.2700, subp. 3. The Commission will make the final determination of the matter after the expiration of the period for filing exceptions, or after oral argument, if an oral argument is held.



MINNESOTA OFFICE OF ADMINISTRATIVE HEARINGS

600 North Robert Street Saint Paul, Minnesota 55101

Mailing Address: P.O. Box 64620 St. Paul, Minnesota 55164-0620

January 16, 2015

Voice: (651) 361-7900 TTY: (651) 361-7878

Fax: (651) 539-0300

See Attached Service List

Re: In the Matter of the Petition of Hutchinson Telecommunications for Arbitration of an Interconnection Agreement with CenturyLink

OAH 48-2500-31383 MPUC P-421, 5561, 430/IC-14-189

To All Persons on the Attached Service List:

Enclosed and served upon you is the Administrative Law Judge's **ARBITRATOR'S REPORT** in the above-entitled matter.

If you have any questions, please contact my legal assistant Kendra McCausland at (651) 361-7870 or kendra.mccausland@state.mn.us.

Sincerely,

s/Steve M. Mihalchick

STEVE M. MIHALCHICK Administrative Law Judge

SMM:klm Enclosure

cc: Docket Coordinator

STATE OF MINNESOTA OFFICE OF ADMINISTRATIVE HEARINGS PO BOX 64620 600 NORTH ROBERT STREET ST. PAUL, MINNESOTA 55164

CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE

In the Matter of the Petition of Hutchinson Telecommunications for Arbitration of an Interconnection Agreement with CenturyLink OAH Docket No.: 48-2500-31383

Kendra McCausland certifies that on January 16, 2015 she served the true and correct **ARBITRATOR'S REPORT** by eService, and U.S. Mail, (in the manner indicated below) to the following individuals:

First Name	Last Name	Email	Company Name	Address	Delivery Method	View Trade Secret
Julia	Anderson	Julia.Anderson@ag.state.mn.us	Office of the Attorney General-DOC	1800 BRM Tower 445 Minnesota St St. Paul, MN 551012134	Electronic Service	Yes
Linda	Chavez	linda.chavez@state.mn.us	Department of Commerce	85 7th Place E Ste 500 Saint Paul, MN 55101-2198	Electronic Service	Yes
Mary	Holly	mholly@winthrop.com	Winthrop & Weinstine, P.A.	225 S Sixth St Ste 3500 Minneapolis, MN 55402	Electronic Service	Yes
Linda	Jensen	linda.s.jensen@ag.state.mn.us	Office of the Attorney General-DOC	1800 BRM Tower 445 Minnesota Street St. Paul, MN 551012134	Electronic Service	Yes
John	Lindell	agorud.ecf@ag.state.mn.us	Office of the Attorney General-RUD	1400 BRM Tower 445 Minnesota St St. Paul, MN 551012130	Electronic Service	Yes
Gregory R.	Merz	gregory.merz@gpmlaw.com	Gray, Plant, Mooty	80 S 8th St Ste 500 Minneapolis, MN 55402-5383	Electronic Service	Yes
Steve	Mihalchick	steve.mihalchick@state.mn.us	Office of Administrative Hearings	PO Box 64620 St. Paul, MN 551640620	Electronic Service	Yes
Janet	Shaddix Elling	jshaddix@janetshaddix.com	Shaddix And Associates	Ste 122 9100 W Bloomington Frwy Bloomington, MN 55431	Electronic Service	Yes
Eric	Swanson	eswanson@winthrop.com	Winthrop Weinstine	225 S 6th St Ste 3500 Capella Tower Minneapolis, MN 554024629	Electronic Service	Yes
Jason	Торр	jason.topp@centurylink.com	CenturyLink	200 S 5th St Ste 2200 Minneapolis, MN 55402	Electronic Service	Yes
Daniel	Wolf	dan.wolf@state.mn.us	Public Utilities Commission	Suite 350 121 7th Place East St. Paul, MN 551022147	Electronic Service	Yes